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Eleventh Annual General Meeting 
on May 4, 2010
Agenda at a glance

1. Presentation of the adopted financial statements and approved consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2009, 

the management report for ELMOS Semiconductor Aktiengesellschaft and the group management report (respectively inclu-

ding explanatory reports of the Management Board according to Section 176 (1) sentence 1 AktG on the statements required 

by takeover law pursuant to Sections 289 (4), 315 (4) HGB and the explanatory reports on the essential characteristics of the 

internal monitoring and risk management system with respect to financial accounting in accordance with Sections 289 (5), 

315 (2) no. 5 HGB ), and the Supervisory Board’s report for fiscal year 2009 

2.  Resolution on the appropriation of retained earnings 

3.  Resolution on the formal approval of the actions of the Management Board for fiscal year 2009

4.  Resolution on the formal approval of the actions of the Supervisory Board for fiscal year 2009

5.  Resolution on the amendment to Sections 6.1, 8.2 of the articles of incorporation 

 (Supervisory Board – composition – resolutions)

6.  Elections to the Supervisory Board

7. Appointment of the auditor and group auditor for fiscal year 2010 and appointment of the auditor for the review 

 of the interim report on the first six months of fiscal year 2010

8. Amendment to the articles of incorporation with regard to the Act on the Implementation of the 

 Shareholders’ Rights Directive (Gesetz zur Umsetzung der Aktionärsrechterichtlinie – ARUG)

9. Resolution on the authorization to acquire and use own shares (treasury stocks)

10. Resolution on the authorization to issue convertible bonds or option bonds, profit participation rights or profit participating 

bonds, and the creation of conditional capital at the suspension of the respective authorization from the year 2009 

11. Resolution on the creation of conditional capital for granting stock options to employees, executives, and Management 

Board members of ELMOS Semiconductor Aktiengesellschaft and to employees and executives of affiliated companies based 

on a stock option plan 2010, and amendments to the articles of incorporation

12. Resolution on the non-disclosure of information according to Section  285 no. 9 letter a sentences 5 through 8 HGB and Sec-

tions 315a (1), 314 (1) no. 6 letter a sentences 5 through 8 HGB in financial statements and consolidated financial statements 

(exemption from obligation for individualized disclosure of Management Board remuneration)

ELMOS Semiconductor Aktiengesellschaft

44227 Dortmund, Germany

ISIN DE0005677108

German Securities Identification Number (WKN): 567 710
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2 Resolution on the appropriation of retained earnings 

management board and supervisory board propose 

that the retained earnings of 42,715,514.53 euro stated by 

elmos semiconductor aktiengesellschaft for fiscal year 

2009 be carried forward entirely to new accounts. 

3 Resolution on the formal approval of the actions of 

the Management Board for fiscal year 2009

supervisory board and management board propose that 

the actions of the members of the management board act-

ing in fiscal year 2009 be formally approved for this period.

4 Resolution on the formal approval of the actions of 

the Supervisory Board for fiscal year 2009

management board and supervisory board propose that 

the actions of the members of the supervisory board act-

ing in fiscal year 2009 (including supervisory board member 

Dr. peter thoma, who left the board on may 6, 2009) be for-

mally approved fort his period.

5 Resolution on the amendment to Sections 6.1,  

8.2 of the articles of incorporation  

(Supervisory Board – composition – resolutions)

at present the supervisory board consists of six mem-

bers. the terms of all members of the supervisory board 

end upon the conclusion of the annual general meeting of 

may 4, 2010. to increase the efficiency of supervisory board 

work, the number of supervisory board members should 

be reduced to three. management board and superviso-

ry board therefore propose that section 6.1 of the compa-

ny’s articles of incorporation be suspended and rephrased 

as follows: 

“6.1 the supervisory board consists of three members.”

in addition, section 8.2 shall be adapted to the new size of 

the supervisory board. section 8.2 sentence 2 of the articles 

of incorporation is suspended and rephrased as follows:

Invitation to the eleventh Annual General Meeting of 

ELMOS Semiconductor Aktiengesellschaft,  

44227 Dortmund, Germany (ISIN DE0005677108/German 

Securities Identification Number (WKN): 567 710)

our eleventh annual general meeting will be held on tues-

day, may 4, 2010, at 10:00 a.m. at the casino hohensyburg, 

hohensyburgstraße 200, 44265 Dortmund, germany. 

AGENDA
1 Presentation of the adopted financial statements 

and approved consolidated financial statements as 

of December 31, 2009, the management report for ELMOS 

Semiconductor Aktiengesellschaft and the group manage-

ment report (respectively including explanatory reports of 

the Management Board according to Section 176 (1) sen-

tence 1 AktG on the statements required by takeover law 

pursuant to Sections 289 (4), 315 (4) HGB and the explan-

atory reports on the essential characteristics of the inter-

nal monitoring and risk management system with respect 

to financial accounting in accordance with Sections 289 (5), 

315 (2) no. 5 HGB ), and the Supervisory Board’s report for 

fiscal year 2009 

above-mentioned documents are available at the offices of 

elmos semiconductor aktiengesellschaft (heinrich-hertz-

straße 1, 44227 Dortmund, germany) at customary busi-

ness hours for the shareholders’ examination and they are 

available on the internet at www.elmos.de as well. the doc-

uments will also be sent to the shareholders by mail free of 

charge upon request.

according to legal regulations, no resolution is scheduled 

for agenda item 1 as the supervisory board has already 

approved the financial statements and consolidated finan-

cial statements.
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“it has a quorum if all of its members participate in the 

decision making.”

6  

Elections to the Supervisory Board

the current members of the supervisory board were  

elected at the annual general meeting of elmos semicon-

ductor aktiengesellschaft held on april 26, 2005, or elected 

at following agms or appointed by court order as succes-

sors of retired supervisory board members in accordance 

with section 6.3 of the articles of incorporation. the terms 

of the current members of the supervisory board therefore 

end upon the conclusion of this annual general meeting in 

accordance with 6.2 of the articles of incorporation. 

the supervisory board proposes that the following  

candidates be elected as members of the supervisory board 

acting until the conclusion of the annual general meeting 

to decide on the formal approval of the supervisory board’s 

actions for fiscal year 2014. 

-> Dr. Burkhard Dreher, graduate economist, 

 self-employed economist, residing in Dortmund 

-> Dr. Klaus Weyer, graduate physicist, 

 management consultant, residing in schwerte

-> Prof. Dr. Günter Zimmer, graduate physicist, 

 university professor (ret.), residing in Duisburg

Dr. burkhard Dreher will assume the function of indepen-

dent financial expert for the purpose of section 100 (5) 

aktg again.

the supervisory board’s composition is governed by  

sections 96 (1), 101 (1) aktg. according to section 6.1 of the 

articles of incorporation, the supervisory board currently 

consists of six members. upon registration of the amend-

ment to the articles of incorporation proposed under  

agenda item 5, the supervisory board will consist of three 

members according to revised section 6.1 of the articles  

of incorporation. 

elections to the supervisory board are intended to be  

carried out by way of individual elections.

the general meeting is not bound by election proposals.

Disclosures pursuant to section 125 (1) sentence 5 aktg

the candidates proposed for election to the supervisory 

board are members of the supervisory boards of the  

companies listed under a) or members of comparable 

domestic or international supervisory bodies of the  

companies listed under b), respectively: 

-> Dr. Burkhard Dreher, a) arcelor mittal eisenhüttenstadt  

 gmbh and vattenfall europe mining ag

-> Dr. Klaus Weyer, a) paragon ag

-> Prof. Dr. Günter Zimmer, b) Dolphin intégration s.a.,   

 France, (member of the board of directors)

7 Appointment of the auditor and group auditor for fis-

cal year 2010 and appointment of the auditor for the 

review of the interim report on the first six months of fis-

cal year 2010

the supervisory board proposes upon the recommenda-

tion of its audit committee that ernst & Young gmbh 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Dortmund, be appoint-

ed auditor and group auditor for fiscal year 2010 as well as 

auditor for the review of the interim report on the first  

six months of fiscal year 2010.

8 Amendment to the articles of incorporation with 

regard to the Act on the Implementation of the 

Shareholders’ Rights Directive (Gesetz zur Umsetzung der 

Aktionärsrechterichtlinie – ARUG)

the act on the implementation of the shareholders’ rights 

Directive (arug), which came into effect as of september 

1, 2009, introduces a new system of time limits and makes 

granting, revoking, and providing proof of the power of 

proxy easier for shareholders.

management board and supervisory board therefore  

propose that the following resolution be passed:
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a) adjustment of the notice period

sentences 2 and 3 of section 10.2 of the articles of 

incorporation are suspended and rephrased as follows:

 

“the general meeting shall be convened at least thirty 

days prior to the day of the general meeting – unless a 

shorter period is admissible by law. the notice period for 

convening the general meeting is extended by the days 

of the registration period. the day of convening and the 

day of the general meeting shall not be included in the 

calculation of the notice period.”

b) adjustment of the period of registration for the 

 general meeting

the second sentence of section 11.1 of the articles of 

incorporation is supended and rephrased as follows:

„registration and proof of entitlement shall be received 

by the company at the address communicated for this 

purpose in the convening notice in text form (section 

126b bgb) in german or in english at least six days prior 

to the general meeting. the day of the general meeting 

and the day of receipt shall not be included in the calcu-

lation.”

c) adjustment of the formal requirements for granting 

 the power of proxy

section 11.3 of the articles of incorporation is suspend-

ed and rephrased as follows:

“the right to vote may be exercised by a proxy. if the 

shareholder grants the power of proxy to more than 

one person, the company may refuse one or several of 

them. the power of proxy, its revocation, and proof of 

the power of proxy to the company require text form. 

the particular requirements for granting the power of 

proxy, its revocation, and furnishing proof of the power 

of proxy to the company are announced upon the con-

vening of the general meeting, including detailed infor-

mation on the provision of electronic communication. 

section 135 aktg shall remain unaffected.”

section 11.4 of the articles of incorporation is suspend-

ed without replacement.

section 11.5 of the articles of incorporation becomes 

section 11.4 of the articles of incorporation.

9 Resolution on the authorization to acquire and use 

own shares (treasury stocks)

by shareholders’ resolution passed at the annual gener-

al meeting of may 6, 2009, the management board was 

authorized to purchase the company’s own shares. this 

authorization is limited until november 5, 2010. the pro-

posal provides for the suspension of this resolution and the 

management board’s new authorization to acquire compa-

ny shares. according to section 71 (1) no. 8 aktg, amend-

ed by the act on the implementation of the shareholders’ 

rights Directive (arug), such authorization may now be 

given for a period of up to five years.

management board and supervisory board propose that the 

following resolution be passed:

 

a) the management board is authorized, subject to the

supervisory board’s consent, to acquire the company’s 

own shares of altogether up to 10% of the current share 

capital until may 3, 2015. together with any own shares 

acquired for the same or other reasons and either held 

by the company or attributed to the company in accor-

dance with sections 71a et seq. aktg, the volume of 

own shares acquired on the basis of this authorization 

shall not exceed 10% of the company’s share capital at 

any time.
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b) the authorization may be exercised entirely or in several 

parts, once or several times, and for one or several pur-

poses within the scope of aforementioned limitation.

c) the acquisition shall be made on the stock exchange or 

 by means of a public submission of a tender addressed 

to all of the company’s shareholders.

-> if the shares are acquired on the stock exchange, 

the consideration paid by the company per share 

(net of additional purchase costs) shall neither 

exceed the opening price as of purchase date 

through Xetra trading (or a comparable successor 

trading system) by more than 10% nor undercut it 

by more than 20%.

-> if the shares are acquired by means of the pub-

lic submission of a tender addressed to all of the 

company’s shareholders, the purchase price ten-

dered or the limits of the purchase price mar-

gin per share (net of additional purchase costs) 

– adjustments during the tender period notwith-

standing – may neither exceed nor undercut the 

average of the closing prices through Xetra trad-

ing (or a comparable successor trading system) 

of the Frankfurt stock exchange during the last 

three trading days prior to the day of the pub-

lic announcement of the tender by more than 

20%. if material changes of the relevant stock 

price occur subsequent to the public announce-

ment, the purchase price may be adjusted. in this 

case, it will be referred to the average of the clos-

ing prices through Xetra trading (or a comparable 

successor trading system) of the Frankfurt stock 

exchange during the last three trading days prior 

to the day of the public announcement of a pos-

sible adjustment. the tender may provide for fur-

ther conditions. the volume of the tender may be 

limited. if total subscription to the tender exceeds 

its volume, acceptance must occur in proportion 

to the respective number of shares offered.  

the privileged acceptance of low volumes of up 

to 100 of the company’s shares offered per share-

holder for acquisition may be provided for.

d) the management board is authorized to use the com-

pany’s own shares acquired on the basis of aforemen-

tioned authorization or previous authorization (treasury 

stocks) for the following purposes:

aa) shares may be assigned, subject to the supervisory 

board’s consent, to employees and executives of 

elmos semiconductor aktiengesellschaft as well 

as to employees and members of the management 

of affiliated companies within the framework of 

stock option plans 2004, 2009 and 2010 in redemp-

tion of stock options.  insofar as the company’s own 

shares are to be assigned to members of the compa-

ny’s management board within this framework, the 

company’s supervisory board is authorized to the 

assignment.  applicable are the provisions of exist-

ing stock option plans 2004 and 2009 and the pro-

visions of new stock option plan 2010. the corner-

stones of stock option plans 2004 and 2009 decided 

by shareholders’ resolution are available for inspec-

tion as parts of the notarial records of the respective 

annual general meetings at the commercial reg-

ister in Dortmund. they may also be examined in 

the offices of the corporate headquarters of elmos 

semiconductor aktiengesellschaft, heinrich-hertz-

straße 1, 44227 Dortmund, germany, or on the 

internet at http://www.elmos.de/englisch/investor-

relations/corporate-governance/option-program.

html. they are also sent to shareholders by mail 

upon request and will be on display at the annu-

al general meeting. please refer to the presentation 

under agenda item 11 for the provisions of stock 

option plan 2010. 
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bb) shares may be sold, subject to the supervisory

board’s consent, to third parties against payment in 

cash if the sale is transacted at a price that does not 

materially undercut the stock market price and if the 

number of shares sold does not exceed 10% of the 

share capital at the time the shares are thus used. 

to be taken into account of this 10% limit are shares, 

bonds with conversion privileges or option rights or 

rather conversion commitments as well as compa-

rable financial instruments issued or sold during the 

term of this authorization under preclusion of the 

shareholders’ subscription rights in direct or indirect 

application of section 186 (3) sentence 4 aktg

cc) shares may be sold, subject to the supervisory 

board’s consent, against payment in kind, particular-

ly in order to offer them to third parties within the 

scope of business combinations or acquisitions of 

companies, operations, investments, or other assets.

dd) shares may be used, subject to the supervisory 

board’s consent, for the redemption of convertible 

bonds or option bonds, profit participation rights 

or profit participating bonds (or a combination of 

these instruments), linked to conversion privileges 

or option rights or rather conversion commitments, 

issued by elmos semiconductor aktiengesell-

schaft or a group company of elmos semiconduc-

tor aktiengesellschaft for the purpose of section 18 

aktg in the future.

ee) shares may be offered for purchase, subject to the

supervisory board’s consent, to employees and 

executives of elmos semiconductor aktiengesell-

schaft, employees and members of the manage-

ment of affiliated companies, and to freelancers, or 

provided and assigned as compensation component 

(even gratuitously), or, if acquired for one of these 

purposes by way of security loan, used in fulfillment 

of the obligations from the security loans.

ff) shares may be promised and assigned to the mem-

bers of the management board of elmos semicon-

ductor aktiengesellschaft as share-based remuner-

ation component in observance of the requirement 

for the appropriateness of remuneration (section 87 

(1) aktg) by the supervisory board. the particulars 

of share-based remuneration of the management 

board are determined by the supervisory board.

gg) shares may be retired, subject to the supervisory 

board’s consent, without further shareholder’s reso-

lution on the retirement or its execution. they may 

also be retired, subject to the supervisory board’s 

consent, in a simplified procedure without capi-

tal decrease by adjustment of the remaining shares’ 

proportionate arithmetical amount of the compa-

ny’s share capital. the retirement may be limited 

to a part of the acquired shares. if the retirement is 

carried out by way of the simplified procedure, the 

management board is authorized to adjust the num-

ber of no par shares in the articles of incorporation

e) the shareholders’ subscription rights to those com-

pany’s own shares are precluded to the extent that 

these shares are used according to authorizations 

described in lit. d) aa) through ff). 

f) the authorization to purchase the company’s own 

shares based on the shareholders’ resolution passed at 

the annual general meeting may 6, 2009, limited until 

november 5, 2010, is suspended as of the moment the 

new authorization comes into effect.

10 Resolution on the authorization to issue con-

vertible bonds or option bonds, profit participa-

tion rights or profit participating bonds, and the creation 

of conditional capital at the suspension of the respective 

authorization from the year 2009 

the annual general meeting of may 6, 2009 resolved an 

authorization to issue convertible bonds or option bonds, 
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profit participation rights or profit participating bonds, and  

the creation of conditional capital. Due to contradictory rulings  

found by higher regional courts (oberlandesgerichte), 

extremely restrictive provisions were established – espe-

cially with respect to option/conversion prices –, with the 

consequence that conditional capital provides a financing 

option for the company only in certain market situations. 

Following clarifications pronounced by the Federal court 

of Justice (bundesgerichtshof) and an amendment to sec-

tion 193 (2) no. 3 aktg, the previous and much larger scope 

for the arrangement of option conditions may now again be 

utilized. the proposal accordingly provides for a new  

resolution on the authorization to issue convertible bonds 

or option bonds, profit participation rights or profit partici-

pating bonds, and the creation of conditional capital at the 

cancelation of the previously provided corresponding condi-

tional capital.

a) suspension of the authorization of may 6, 2009 to issue  

 convertible bonds and option bonds

management board and supervisory board propose 

that the following resolution be passed:

the authorizations for the issue of convertible bonds or 

option bonds, profit participation rights or profit partic-

ipating bonds (or a combination of these instruments) 

decided by shareholders’ resolution at the annual gen-

eral meeting of may 6, 2009 (agenda items 7b) and 7c)) 

are suspended effective as of the time of registration of 

the amendments to the articles of incorporation to be 

resolved under agenda item 10 b) lit. cc).

b) authorization for the issue of convertible bonds or 

option bonds, profit participation rights or profit partic-

ipating bonds, the preclusion of subscription rights, the 

creation of conditional capital 2010/i, and amendments 

to the articles of incorporation 

management board and supervisory board propose 

that the following resolution be passed:

aa) authorization for the issue of convertible bonds or

option bonds, profit participation rights or prof-

it participating bonds (or a combination of these 

instruments)

Term of the authorization, nominal value

the management board is authorized, subject to 

the supervisory board’s consent, to issue convertible 

bonds or option bonds, profit participation rights 

or profit participating bonds, or a combination of 

these instruments (collectively called “bonds”), 

made out to the holder, in one or several issuanc-

es until may 3, 2015 to the total nominal value of 

up to 100,000,000 euro and to grant the holders of 

those bonds conversion privileges or option rights 

for bearer shares of the company with a proportion-

ate amount of the share capital of altogether up 

to 7,80,000 euro according to the particulars of the 

convertible bond or option bond provisions.

other than in euro, the bonds may also be issued 

in the legal currency of an oecD member state in 

observance of the limit of the corresponding equiva-

lent amount in euro.

the bonds may also be issued by a group company 

of elmos semiconductor aktiengesellschaft for the 

purpose of section 18 aktg. in this case the man-

agement board is authorized, subject to the supervi-

sory board’s consent, to assume the guaranty for the 

bonds on behalf of the respective company and to 

grant the holders of the loans conversion privileges 

or option rights for shares of elmos semiconductor 

aktiengesellschaft or rather to impose conversion 

commitments on them.
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Subscription rights and preclusion of subscription 

rights

the statutory subscription rights are granted to the 

shareholders in such a way that the bonds are taken 

over by a credit institution or a consortium of credit 

institutions with the obligation to offer them to the 

shareholders for subscription. if bonds are issued by 

a group company of elmos semiconductor aktieng-

esellschaft for the purpose of section 18 aktg, the 

company shall safeguard the granting of the statuto-

ry subscription rights to the shareholders of elmos 

semiconductor aktiengesellschaft accordingly.

however, the management board is authorized, sub-

ject to the supervisory board’s consent, to exclude 

fractional amounts from the shareholders’ subscrip-

tion rights and also to preclude the subscription 

rights to the extent necessary to grant the holders 

of previously issued bonds carrying conversion priv-

ileges or option rights or rather conversion commit-

ments subscription rights to the extent they would 

be eligible for subsequent to the exercise of their 

conversion privileges or option rights or in fulfill-

ment of conversion commitments as shareholders.

the management board is also authorized, subject 

to the supervisory board’s consent, to preclude the 

shareholders’ subscription rights to bonds issued 

with conversion privileges or option rights or rather 

conversion commitments altogether if the manage-

ment board arrives at the opinion after due exam-

ination that the issue price of the bonds does not 

materially undercut their hypothetical market value 

determined according to accepted methods, partic-

ularly applying financial mathematics.

if bonds with conversion privileges or option rights 

or rather conversion commitments are issued in cor-

responding application of section 186 (3) sentence 

4 aktg under preclusion of subscription rights, the 

proportionate amount of the share capital attrib-

utable to the shares issued in redemption of con-

version privileges and option rights or in fulfillment 

of conversion commitments shall not exceed 10% 

of the share capital in total, neither at the time this 

authorization comes into effect nor at the time it is 

exercised.

to be included in this 10% limit are shares, bonds 

with conversion privileges or option rights or rath-

er conversion commitments as well as comparable 

instruments issued or sold during the term of this 

authorization under preclusion of the shareholders’ 

subscription rights in direct or indirect application of 

section 186 (3) sentence 4 aktg.

insofar as profit participation rights or profit par-

ticipating bonds without conversion privileges or 

option rights or rather conversion commitments are 

issued, the management board is authorized, sub-

ject to the supervisory board’s consent, to preclude 

the shareholders’ subscription rights altogether if 

these profit participation rights or profit participat-

ing bonds are shaped similar to obligations, i.e. if 

they do not establish membership rights in the com-

pany, grant no participation in liquidation proceeds, 

and the interest rate is not determined on the basis 

of the amount of net income, retained earnings, or 

the dividend. Furthermore, in this case interest rates 

and face values of profit participation rights or  

profit participating bonds shall correspond with the 

market conditions at the time of issuance.

Conversion privileges and option rights, conversion 

commitments

in case of the issue of convertible bonds, the holders 

are granted the irrevocable right to convert their 

convertible bonds to no par bearer shares of elmos 

semiconductor aktiengesellschaft according to the 

provisions for convertible bonds determined by the 
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management board. the conversion rate derives 

from the division of the nominal value, or the issue 

amount below nominal value of a partial convert-

ible bond, by the determined conversion price for 

one share of the company and may be rounded up 

or down to a whole number; furthermore, a cash 

adjustment and merging or a compensation for 

non-convertible fractional amounts may be provid-

ed for. the same applies if the conversion privilege 

refers to a profit participation right or a profit par-

ticipating bond.

in case of the issue of option bonds, one or more 

subscription warrants are attached to each partial 

bond, entitling the holder to the purchase of no par 

bearer shares of elmos semiconductor aktienge-

sellschaft according to the particulars of the pro-

visions for options determined by the manage-

ment board. For option bonds made out in euro and 

issued by elmos semiconductor aktiengesellschaft 

or a group company, the provisions for options may 

stipulate that the option price may also be paid by 

the assignment of partial bonds plus cash adjust-

ment if necessary. insofar as fractions of shares are 

resulting, it may be provided for that these fractions 

may be added up to the purchase of whole shares 

against cash adjustment if necessary, in accordance 

with bond provisions. the same applies if subscrip-

tion warrants are attached to a profit participation 

right or a profit participating bond.

bond conditions may also provide for a conversion 

commitment at the end of the term (or at anoth-

er point in time), or the company’s right to grant 

the holders of bonds shares of the company entire-

ly or partially instead of payment of the due amount 

at the final due date of the bonds with a conver-

sion privilege or option right (this includes due dates 

caused by cancelation).

the proportionate amount of the share capital of 

shares to be issued upon conversion or the execu-

tion of options shall not exceed the nominal value 

of the bonds. the provisions of section 9 (1) aktg 

in conjunction with section 199 (2) aktg shall be 

observed. 

 

Conversion or option price

the conversion of option price may not undercut 

80% of the volume-weighted average price of the 

shares of elmos semiconductor aktiengesellschaft 

through Xetra trading (or a comparable successor 

trading system) of the ten trading days at the Frank-

furt stock exchange prior to the day of the manage-

ment board’s final resolution on the submission of a 

tender for the subscription to bonds or on the  

declaration of the company’s acceptance following 

public invitation to submit tender offers. in case of 

a trade in subscription rights, the relevant period is 

determined by the days of subscription rights  

trading except for the last two trading days of  

subscription rights trading. section 9 (1) aktg shall 

remain unaffected.

the conversion or option price may be adjusted, 

without prejudice to section 9 (1) aktg, in case of 

the economic dilution of the value of conversion 

privileges or option rights or rather conversion com-

mitments in protection of its value according to the 

bond conditions insofar as said adjustment is not 

already provided for by law. Furthermore, the bond 

conditions may provide for an adjustment of conver-

sion privileges or option rights or rather conversion 

commitments in case of a capital decrease or oth-

er extraordinary measures or events (such as unusu-

ally high dividends, attainment of control by third 

parties). in case of an attainment of control by third 

parties, a customary adjustment of the conversion 

or option price as well as a reduction of the term 

may be provided for.
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Other provisions

bond conditions may provide for the company’s 

right not to grant new shares in case of conversion 

or option exercise but to pay an amount of mon-

ey that corresponds with the volume–weighted 

average price, for the number of shares otherwise 

to be supplied, of shares of elmos semiconductor 

aktiengesellschaft through Xetra trading (or a com-

parable successor trading system) at the Frankfurt 

stock exchange over the ten trading days after the 

declaration of conversion or option exercise. in case 

that the company announces the exercise of the 

right to pay an amount of money after conversion 

or option exercise, the relevant period of ten trading 

days begins only three trading days at the Frankfurt 

stock exchange after the company’s announcement 

to pay an amount of money.

bond provisions may further provide that the con-

vertible bond or option bond may at the company’s 

option be converted into existing shares of the com-

pany instead of new shares from conditional capital, 

or that the option right may be fulfilled by the sup-

ply of such existing shares. 

the management board is authorized, subject to the 

supervisory board’s consent, to determine the fur-

ther particulars of issuance and terms of the bonds 

or to determine them in consultation with the 

respective boards of the group companies of elmos 

semiconductor aktiengesellschaft acting as issu-

ers of convertible bonds or option bonds. this espe-

cially concerns the issue price, interest rate, the form 

of interest payment, the term and denomination, 

the conversion or option period, the determination 

of a cash adjustment, the compensation or merg-

ing of fractional amounts, cash payment instead of 

the supply of no par bearer shares, and the supply of 

existing instead of the issuance of new no par bear-

er shares.

bb) creation of new conditional capital (conditional 

capital 2010/ii) and cancelation of conditional capi-

tal 2009/i and 2009/ii

the share capital is conditionally increased by up to 

7,800,000.00 euro (conditional capital 2010/ii). the 

conditional capital increase is intended for granting 

no par bearer shares to the holders of convertible 

bonds or option bonds, profit participation rights or 

profit participating bonds (or a combination of these 

instruments) with conversion privileges or option 

rights or rather conversion commitments and issued 

by elmos semiconductor aktiengesellschaft or a 

group company of elmos semiconductor aktien-

gesellschaft for the purpose of section 18 aktg until 

may 3, 2015 on the basis of the authorization given 

by shareholders’ resolution at the annual general 

meeting of may 4, 2010 under agenda item 10 b). 

the issue of new shares is carried out at the respec-

tive conversion or option price to be determined 

according to aforementioned authorization resolu-

tion.

the conditional capital increase may only be car-

ried out to the extent that the holders of convertible 

bonds or option bonds, profit participation rights or 

profit participating bonds make use of their conver-

sion privileges or option rights or, if they are com-

mitted to conversion, fulfill their commitment to 

conversion, unless cash compensation is granted or 

own shares are used for servicing. 

the new shares are entitled to dividend as of the 

beginning of the fiscal year in which they come into 

being due to the exercise of conversion privileges or 

option rights or rather the fulfillment of conversion 

commitments.
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the management board is authorized, subject to the 

supervisory board’s consent, to determine the fur-

ther particulars of the implementation of the condi-

tional capital increase.

conditional capital 2009/i and conditional capital 

2009/ii are canceled as of the time conditional capi-

tal 2010/ii comes into effect.

cc) amendments to the articles of incorporation

present section 3.6 and present section 3.8 of the 

articles of incorporation are suspended.

instead of present section 3.8 of the articles of 

incorporation, the following provision is inserted as 

new section 3.8 of the articles of incorporation:

“the share capital is conditionally increased by up 

to 7,800,000.00 euro (conditional capital 2010/ii). 

the conditional capital increase may only be car-

ried out to the extent that the holders of convertible 

bonds or option bonds, profit participation rights 

or profit participating bonds (or a combination of 

these instruments) issued by elmos semiconductor 

aktiengesellschaft or a group company of elmos 

semiconductor aktiengesellschaft for the purpose 

of section 18 aktg until may 3, 2015 on the basis 

of the authorization given by shareholders’ resolu-

tion at the annual general meeting of may 4, 2010 

under agenda item 10 b) make use of their conver-

sion privileges or option rights or, if they are com-

mitted to conversion, fulfill their commitment to 

conversion, unless cash compensation is granted or 

own shares are used for servicing. the issue of new 

shares is carried out at the respective conversion or 

option price to be determined according to afore-

mentioned authorization resolution.

the new shares are entitled to dividend as of the 

beginning of the fiscal year in which they come into 

being due to the exercise of conversion privileges or 

option rights or rather the fulfillment of conversion 

commitments.

the management board is authorized, subject to the 

supervisory board’s consent, to determine the fur-

ther particulars of the implementation of the condi-

tional capital increase.”

dd) authorization for the amendment to the articles 

 of incorporation 

the supervisory board is authorized to amend the 

wording of the articles of incorporation according to 

the respective issuance of new shares as well as to 

make all other amendments to the articles of incor-

poration in this context, as far as only the word-

ing is concerned. the same applies if no use is made 

of the authorization for the issuance of convertible 

bonds or option bonds, profit participation rights 

or profit participating bonds after the expiration of 

the authorization period and if no use is made of the 

conditional capital after the expiration of the terms 

for the exercise of conversion privileges or option 

rights or rather for the fulfillment of conversion 

commitments.

11 Resolution on the creation of conditional capital 

for granting stock options to employees, execu-

tives, and Management Board members of ELMOS Semi-

conductor Aktiengesellschaft and to employees and exec-

utives of affiliated companies based on a stock option plan 

2010, and amendments to the articles of incorporation

in the years 1999 and 2004, and most recently in the year 

2009, the company prepared stock option plans for employ-

ees, executives, and management board members of 

elmos semiconductor aktiengesellschaft as well as for 

members of the management and employees of affiliated 

companies, based on corresponding shareholders’ resolu-

tions. of the 1,000,000 subscription rights available under 
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stock option plan 2009, 495,000 options on one of the com-

pany’s shares each have already been issued. For stock 

options issued already, the conditions of stock option plan 

2009 continue to apply.

according to the proposal of management board and 

supervisory board, stock option plan 2009 shall be super-

seded by a new stock option plan, which considers the 

amendments to the corporations act brought about by the 

act on the appropriateness of management board remu-

neration (gesetz zur angemessenheit der vorstandsvergü-

tung – vorstag) on the one hand and allows for an adjust-

ment of the previously provided exercise hurdle and the 

absolute stock price target as well as further technical  

modifications. 

in adjustment to the vorstag, the blocking period for the 

first-time execution shall be determined at a minimum of 

four years. at the same time, the stock option plan 2010 

continues to aim for an orientation of the management 

board members’ remuneration structure toward the com-

pany’s sustainable performance. For this purpose, the link 

to the stock price shall remain the beneficiaries’ incentive 

within the framework of the new stock option plan. how-

ever, the previous exercise hurdle and the absolute stock 

price target of at least 50% shall be reduced to 20% in view 

of the positive stock price performance of the past year. 

thus it remains assured that stock options can be exer-

cised only if the shareholder value has been considerably 

increased. the pecuniary advantage the beneficiaries can 

achieve by the exercise of stock options continues to be lim-

ited to the fourfold of the exercise price determined upon 

the issue of stock options. by reducing the price target to 

20%, the maximum pecuniary advantage achievable by the 

beneficiaries is reduced, though. as a result, the employees’ 

motivation will be raised by the provision of ambitious yet 

achievable targets. 

For servicing the subscription rights from the stock option 

plans, corresponding conditional capital was created by 

respective shareholders’ resolution (cp. section 3.5, section 

3.7, and section 3.9 of the articles of incorporation). based 

on stock option plan 1999, no more options can be exer-

cised. conditional capital 1999 shall therefore be canceled 

in accordance with section 3.5 of the articles of incorpo-

ration. based on stock option plan 2004, conditional capi-

tal is currently available for up to 145,244 of the company’s 

shares, and on the basis of stock option plan 2009, 495,000 

stock options have so far been issued. as stock option plan 

2009 is intended to be superseded by a stock option plan 

2010, no more options are issued on the basis of stock 

option plan 2009. against this backdrop, the amount of 

the share capital with regard to conditional capital shall be 

reduced accordingly in section 3.9 of the articles of incorpo-

ration.

management board and supervisory board propose that 

the following resolution be passed:

a) cancellation of conditional capital 1999 

the conditional capital 1999 according to section 3.5 

of the articles of incorporation is cancelled as no more 

stock options can be exercised under stock option plan 

1999.

b) partial cancellation and renaming of conditional capital  

 2009/iii 

the conditional capital according to section 3.9 of 

the articles of incorporation becomes section 3.6 

of the articles of incorporation and is reduced from 

1,000,000.00 euro to 495,000.00 euro at unchanged 

conditions for the use of new shares.

section 3.9 becomes section 3.6 of the articles of incor-

poration and is rephrased as follows:

“the share capital is conditionally increased by up to 

495,000.00 euro (conditional capital 2009). the condi-
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tional capital increase serves the redemption of stock 

options granted on the basis of the authorization given 

by shareholders’ resolution at the annual general meet-

ing of may 6, 2009 to the company’s management 

board members, executives and employees as well as to 

members of the management and employees of affil-

iated companies until may 5, 2014 (stock option plan 

2009). the conditional capital increase may be carried 

out only to the extent that stock options are issued 

from the conditional capital within the framework of 

stock option plan 2009 according to the shareholders’ 

resolution passed at the annual general meeting of 

may 6, 2009 and these stock options are exercised by 

their holders within the exercise period, unless cash 

compensation is granted or own shares are used for ser-

vicing. the new shares are entitled to dividend as of 

the beginning of the fiscal year in which they come into 

being by the exercise of stock options.”

c) creation of conditional capital for granting stock 

options to employees, executives, and management 

board members of elmos semiconductor aktienge-

sellschaft as well as to employees and members of the 

management of affiliated companies based on a stock 

option plan 2010 (conditional capital 2010/i)

the share capital is conditionally increased by up to 

1,250,000.00 euro (conditional capital 2010/i). the con-

ditional capital increase serves the redemption of stock 

options granted on the basis of this authorization until 

may 3, 2015 (stock option plan 2010). the manage-

ment board or – insofar as members of the manage-

ment board are concerned – the supervisory board is 

authorized to issue up to 1,250,000 stock options on 

one share of the company each within the framework 

of this stock option plan 2010 in annual tranches to 

the beneficiaries defined below. the conditional capi-

tal increase may be carried out only to the extent that 

stock options are issued from the conditional capital 

within the framework of stock option plan 2010 and the 

holders of these stock options make use of them within 

the exercise period, unless cash compensation is grant-

ed or own shares are used for servicing. the new shares 

are entitled to dividend as of the beginning of the fis-

cal year in which they come into being by the exercise of 

stock options.

stock option plan 2010 has the following main proper-

ties:

aa) beneficiaries

Within the framework of stock option plan 2010, 

stock options are issued to employees, executives, 

and members of the management board of elmos 

semiconductor aktiengesellschaft, and to employ-

ees and members of the management of affiliated 

companies of elmos semiconductor aktiengesell-

schaft. beneficiaries are all staff members who are 

steadily employed during the respective issue peri-

od, either in an employment relationship or under 

service contract which is not under notice of resig-

nation, either with elmos semiconductor aktien-

gesellschaft or an affiliated company. altogether up 

to 1,250,000 stock options (“total volume”) may be 

issued to all beneficiary groups combined over the 

term of stock option plan 2010 until may 3, 2015. 

stock options are divided between the separate 

groups of beneficiaries as follows:

-> up to 60% of the total volume of stock options 

to all employees of elmos semiconductor 

aktiengesellschaft and its affiliated compa-

nies not included in the groups of beneficia-

ries listed below;

-> up to 20% of the total volume of stock options 

to members of the management of affiliat-

ed companies, employees and executives in 

key positions below management board level 
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of elmos semiconductor aktiengesellschaft, 

and employees in key positions below man-

agement level of affiliated companies;

-> up to 20% of the total volume of stock options 

to members of the management board of 

elmos semiconductor aktiengesellschaft. 

beneficiaries always receive stock options only in their 

capacity as members of one of the aforementioned 

groups of beneficiaries. particulars are determined by 

the management board, subject to the supervisory 

board’s consent, or – insofar as stock options are issued 

to members of the management board – by the super-

visory board.

bb) organization of stock option plan 2010

Personal investment

as entry condition to the stock option plan 2010 

for individual groups of beneficiaries, the manage-

ment board may determine, subject to the supervi-

sory board’s consent, a personal investment of one 

share for a certain number of stock options to be 

determined by the management board or – insofar 

as stock options are issued to members of the man-

agement board – the supervisory board, including 

a minimum holding period. particulars of the per-

sonal investment are defined by the management 

board, subject to the supervisory board’s consent, or 

– insofar as stock options are issued to members of 

the management board – by the supervisory board.

Issue of stock options

over the term of stock option plan 2010, stock 

options may be issued in one or more annual tranch-

es ("tranches") to all beneficiaries together from 

the total volume of stock options. no single tranche 

shall amount to more than 50% of the total volume. 

tranches are divided between the separate groups 

of beneficiaries according to the percentages given 

under lit. aa).

the resolution of the management board or – inso-

far as stock options are issued to members of the 

management board – the supervisory board on the 

issue of stock options and the determination of the 

particulars of the respective tranche (“issue date”) 

as well as the beginning and the end of the period 

in which the stock options issues may be subscribed 

to shall be within the following time periods (“vest-

ing periods”):

-> within 45 days after the day of the announce-

ment of (final) results of the past fiscal year or 

-> within 45 days, respectively, after the day of 

the announcement of (final) results of the 

first, second, or third quarter of the current 

fiscal year,  

yet at the latest two weeks prior to the end of the 

respective quarter in which the time of issuance 

belongs. 

Holding period and exercise period

stock options may only be exercised after a waiting 

period of four years from the respective issue date 

("holding period"). the management board (subject 

the supervisory board’s consent) or – insofar as the 

members of the management board are concerned 

– the supervisory board may determine a longer 

holding period for all or part of the stock options 

issued within the scope of one tranche.

stock options may be exercised by beneficiaries who 

are not under notice of resignation within three 

years following the expiration of the holding period 

outside the exercise blocking periods. blocking peri-

ods are the following periods:
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-> the period from the 21st calendar day prior to 

a general meeting of the company until the 

end of the day of the general meeting;

-> the period from the day the company 

announces a tender to their shareholders for 

the purchase of new shares in an authorized 

journal for obligatory stock market announce-

ments or in the electronic Federal gazette 

(elektronischer bundesanzeiger) until the day 

the new shares of the company are listed at 

the Frankfurt stock exchange as "ex stock 

options" for the first time;

-> the period from the 15th calendar day prior 

to the announcement of the (preliminary) 

quarterly results to the announcement of the 

(final) quarterly results; and

-> the period from December 15 until the 

announcement of the (final) annual result for 

the past fiscal year.

a forementioned blocking periods include specified 

first and final days respectively.

Furthermore, beneficiaries must observe the limi-

tations resulting from general provisions of law, e.g. 

the law of insider dealings as part of the securities 

trading act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz).

Exercise price

the exercise price for the separate tranches – sub-

ject to a possible adjustment based on provided 

upper limit for the achievable pecuniary advan- 

tage or rather due to dilution protection provisions – 

corresponds with 120% of the average of the  

closing prices of the share of elmos semiconductor 

aktiengesellschaft through Xetra trading (or a com-

parable successor trading system) at the Frankfurt 

stock exchange on the ten trading days prior to the 

issue date. the minimum exercise price is the pro-

portionate amount of the share capital attributable 

to one share.

the beneficiary’s pecuniary advantage achiev-

able by the exercise of stock options (the difference 

between the closing price of the share of elmos 

semiconductor aktiengesellschaft through Xetra 

trading (or a comparable successor trading system) 

at the Frankfurt stock exchange at the day of the 

stock option’s exercise and the exercise price) shall 

not exceed the fourfold of the exercise price deter-

mined upon issuance ("upper limit"). if the upper 

limit is exceeded, the exercise price is adjusted to 

correspond with the difference between the closing 

price of the share of elmos semiconductor aktien-

gesellschaft through Xetra trading (or a comparable 

successor trading system) on the day of exercise of 

the option and the fourfold of the exercise price. the 

management board or – insofar as the members of 

the management board are concerned – the super-

visory board may decide in the individual case that 

the upper limit be reduced appropriately.

Stock price target

stock options may only be exercised if the closing 

price of the company’s share through Xetra trad-

ing (or a comparable successor trading system) at 

the Frankfurt stock exchange equals or exceeds the 

exercise price on the last trading day prior to the 

exercise day.

Dilution protection

if the company in granting a direct or indirect sub-

scription right to its shareholders increases its share 

capital by the issue of new shares or issues bonds 

with conversion privileges or option rights during 

the term of the stock options, and the determined 

conversion or option price per share is below the 
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exercise price of stock options, the company’s man-

agement board or – insofar as the members of the 

company’s management board are concerned – the 

supervisory board is authorized to provide equal 

economic treatment to  the beneficiaries. this equal 

treatment may be realized by the reduction of the 

exercise price or by the adjustment of the number 

of stock options, or by a combination of both mea-

sures. however, beneficiaries are not entitled to 

equal economic treatment in this respect.

in case of a capital increase from the company’s 

retained earnings by the issue of new shares, the 

conditional capital is raised in proportion to the 

share capital compliant with section 218 aktg. 

the beneficiaries’ right to take up new shares by 

the exercise of options increases in the same pro-

portion; in the same proportion, the exercise price 

per share is reduced. if the capital increase is made 

from the company’s retained earnings without the 

issue of new shares (section 207 (2) sentence 2 

aktg), subscription rights and exercise price remain 

unchanged.

in case of a capital decrease, no adjustment of the 

exercise price or the option rate is made unless the 

total number of shares is changed by the capital 

decrease or the capital decrease is linked to a return 

of capital or an acquisition of own shares against 

payment. in case of a capital decrease by the merg-

ing of shares without return of capital and in case of 

an increase of the number of shares without capi-

tal adjustment (stock split), the number of shares to 

be taken up for one option each at exercise price is 

decreased or increased in proportion to the capital 

decrease or the stock split; in the same proportion, 

the exercise price for one share is adjusted.

insofar as an adjustment is made according to afore-

mentioned paragraphs, fractions of shares are not 

granted upon the exercise of stock options. no cash 

adjustment is made in this respect; this also applies 

if a cash payment is made altogether instead of the 

supply of shares.

Non-transferability

the stock options are not transferable. admissible 

is an issue or transfer to third parties who hold the 

options in trust and/or safekeeping for the benefi-

ciary. after a period of four years from the respec-

tive issue date, the beneficiaries may pledge the 

options as far as the respective options can be exer-

cised at that point in time. in case of death, the 

options can also be bequeathed to the beneficiary’s 

spouse, parents, or children. the exercise conditions 

may provide for an obligation or right of the bene-

ficiary’s heir or heirs to exercise the options within 

three months after the occurrence of succession or 

the later expiration of the holding period.

Redemption of stock options

the company may also use the company’s own 

shares for servicing the beneficiaries’ stock options.

the company may also offer cash compensation 

instead of the company’s shares to the beneficia-

ries. the compensation in cash derives from the dif-

ference between the closing price of the share of 

elmos semiconductor aktiengesellschaft through 

Xetra trading (or a comparable successor trading 

system) on the day of the stock option’s exercise and 

the exercise price.

the decision whether cash compensation is offered 

to the beneficiaries in the individual case is made by 

the management board, subject to the supervisory 

board’s consent, or – insofar as the members of the 

management board are concerned – by the supervi-

sory board. in this decision, management board and 

supervisory board are committed solely to the inter-
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est of the shareholders and the company. the pur-

chase conditions shall be arranged in such a way 

that this option is available to elmos semiconduc-

tor aktiengesellschaft.

cc) Further provisions

Further particulars of stock option plan 2010 are 

determined by the supervisory board, insofar as the 

members of the management board are concerned, 

and by the management board, subject to the 

supervisory board’s consent, insofar as other benefi-

ciaries are concerned.

insofar as stock options are offered to members of 

the management of group companies, further  

particulars within the framework of basic principles  

valid throughout the group are determined for 

stock option plan 2010 by the companies’ respective 

boards responsible for the determination of remu-

neration. insofar as employees of group companies 

are concerned, further particulars within the frame-

work of basic principles valid throughout the group 

are determined for stock option plan 2010 by the 

respective management.

Further provision include in particular:

-> the determination of the number of stock 

options for individual beneficiaries or groups 

of beneficiaries,

-> the determination of provisions for the 

implementation of stock option plan 2010, 

-> the procedure for granting and executing 

stock options, and

-> provisions for the treatment of stock options 

in special cases such as the beneficiary’s  

resignation from employment with the group 

or the beneficiary’s death. 

dd) taxation 

all taxes imposed in connection with the exercise 

of stock options by the beneficiaries or the sale of 

shares by the beneficiaries are borne by the benefi-

ciaries.

ee) reporting 

the management board shall report on the utiliza-

tion of stock option plan 2010 and the arrangement 

of stock options granted to the beneficiaries for 

each fiscal year in the respective annual report.

d) amendment to the articles of incorporation and 

 instruction to the management board

section 3.7 becomes section 3.5 of the articles of  

incorporation.

instead of present section 3.7 of the articles of incorpo-

ration, the following provision is inserted as new 3.7 of 

the articles of incorporation:

“the share capital is conditionally increased by up to 

1,250,000.00 euro (conditional capital 2010/i). the con-

ditional capital increase serves the redemption of stock 

options granted on the basis of the authorization given 

by shareholders’ resolution at the annual general meet-

ing of may 4, 2010 to the company’s employees, exec-

utives, and management board members as well as to 

employees and members of the management of affil-

iated companies until may 3, 2015 (stock option plan 

2010). the conditional capital increase shall be carried 

out only to the extent that stock options are issued 
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from the conditional capital within the framework of 

stock option plan 2010 according to the sharehold-

ers’ resolution passed at the annual general meeting 

of may 4, 2010 and these stock options are exercised 

by their holders within the exercise period, unless cash 

compensation is granted or own shares are used for ser-

vicing. the new shares are entitled to dividend as of 

the beginning of the fiscal year in which they come into 

being by the exercise of stock options.” 

the management board is instructed to have the 

amendment to the articles of incorporation registered 

with the commercial register, with the proviso that the 

registration is made only after the respective cancela-

tion and reduction of conditional capital according to 

lit. a) and b) have been registered with the commercial 

register.

12 Resolution on the non-disclosure of information 

according to Section  285 no. 9 letter a sentences 

5 through 8 HGB and Sections 315a (1), 314 (1) no. 6 letter 

a sentences 5 through 8 HGB in financial statements and 

consolidated financial statements (exemption from obli-

gation for individualized disclosure of Management Board 

remuneration)

pursuant to section 285 no. 9 letter a sentences 5 through 

8 hgb, the notes to financial statements of a listed stock 

corporation require, apart from the disclosure of the total 

remuneration granted to the management board mem-

bers in the fiscal year, additional information with regard to 

the remuneration granted to each individual management 

board member. pursuant to sections 315a (1), 314 (1) no. 6 

letter a sentences 5 through 8 hgb, the same applies for 

the notes to consolidated financial statements. this legal 

obligation, first introduced for listed stock corporations in 

the year 2005 by the act on the Disclosure of management 

board remuneration (vorstandsvergütungs-offenlegungs-

gesetz – vorstog), was modified in the year 2009 by the 

act on the appropriateness of management board remu-

neration (vorstag; bgbl. i, p. 2509). 

the company’s annual general meeting of may 19, 2006 

resolved on the basis of section 286 (5) sentence 1 hgb or 

rather section 314 (2) sentence 2 hgb that the individual-

ized remuneration of management board members shall 

not be disclosed in the notes to the company’s financial 

statements or consolidated financial statements for a peri-

od of five years, i.e. until (and including) 2010. Due to the 

modification of the regulations stipulating the individu-

alized disclosure of management board remuneration by 

the vorstag, an extension of the non-disclosure of legal-

ly required information shall be resolved this year by way of 

precaution.

supervisory board and management board propose that 

the following resolution be passed:

the information required according to section 285 no. 9 let-

ter a sentences 5 through 8 hgb and sections 315a (1), 314 

(1) no. 6 letter a sentences 5 through 8 hgb (in the respec-

tive applicable version) shall not be disclosed in the notes to 

the financial statements and consolidated financial state-

ments of elmos semiconductor aktiengesellschaft to be 

prepared for fiscal years 2010 through (and including) 2014.
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REPORTS OF THE 
MANAGEMENT 
BOARD
1. REPORT OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD TO THE GEN-

ERAL MEETING ON AGENDA ITEM 9 (AUTHORIZATION TO 

ACQUIRE AND USE OWN SHARES) ACCORDING TO SEC-

TION 71 (1) NO. 8 IN CONJUNCTION WITH SECTION 186 

(3) SENTENCE 4, (4) SENTENCE 2 AKTG

at previous annual general meetings, the company 

resolved authorizations for the purchase of the company’s 

own shares and their subsequent use, the most recent of 

which is limited until november 5, 2010. Due to the expi-

ration of the authorization in the current fiscal year, the 

currently existing authorization resolved at the annu-

al general meeting of may 6, 2009, shall be replaced by 

means of the resolution proposal at hand. according to 

section 71 (1) no. 8 aktg as amended by the act on the 

implementation of the shareholders’ rights Directive 

(gesetz zur umsetzung der aktionärsrechterichtlinie – 

arug), the authorization may now be given for a period 

of up to five years.

  

apart from an acquisition of shares on the stock market, 

the management board shall be given the option, sub-

ject to the supervisory board’s respective consent, to pur-

chase the company’s own shares by the public submission 

of a tender offer (tender procedure). With this alterna-

tive, each of the company’s shareholders with the intent 

to sell may decide how many shares he or she wants to 

offer and, if a price range is determined, at what price. 

if the volume of shares offered at the determined price 

exceeds the number of shares requested by the compa-

ny, the acceptance must occur in proportion to the shares 

offered. the resolution shall provide for a privileged 

acceptance of small offers or small contingents of offers 

of up to 100 shares. this option helps avoid fractions that 

otherwise occur in determining the quota to be acquired 

and small remaining packages, thereby simplifying the 

technical execution. 

the elmos stock option plans 2004, 2009 and 2010 for 

employees, executives, and members of the management 

board of elmos semiconductor aktiengesellschaft as well 

as for employees and members of the management of 

affiliated companies are each secured by conditional cap-

ital. the resolution as proposed under agenda item 9 shall 

make it possible for the management board, subject to 

the supervisory board’s consent, to service stock option 

plans 2004, 2009 and 2010 even by the prior acquisition 

of the company’s own shares. the dilution of existing 

shareholdings by an otherwise necessary capital increase 

is thus avoided in particular. the decisions on how the 

options are redeemed in the individual case are made by 

the respective company boards; they will let themselves 

be governed solely by the interests of shareholders and 

company and will report on their decisions at each follow-

ing annual general meeting.

in addition, the management board shall be enabled to 

sell repurchased shares under preclusion of the sharehold-

ers’ subscription rights, subject to the supervisory board’s 

consent, to third parties against payment in cash, provid-

ed the selling price does not materially undercut the stock 

market price. the administration will keep a possible dis-

count off the stock market price as low as possible in com-

pliance with the provisions of law. the sale for a selling 

price that does not materially undercut the stock market 

price avoids a dilution of the shareholders’ investment val-

ue. the number of shares sold this way shall not exceed 

10% of the share capital at the time of the utilization of 

shares. to be included in this 10% limit are shares, bonds 

with conversion privileges or option rights or rather con-

version commitments, as well as comparable instruments 

issued or sold during the term of this authorization under 

the preclusion of the shareholders’ subscription rights in 
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direct or indirect application of section 186 (3) sentence 

4 aktg. this opens up opportunities for the company to 

offer the shares to domestic and international investors 

and to expand the shareholder base, and thus to stabi-

lize the value of the share. the company is thus enabled to 

adjust its equity in a flexible manner to business require-

ments and respond to favorable stock market scenarios.

Furthermore, the authorization granted shall provide 

the management board with the opportunity, subject 

to the supervisory board’s consent, to have the compa-

ny’s own shares to dispose of against contributions in 

kind, especially as consideration with regard to business 

combinations or acquisitions of companies, operations, 

or investments in companies. Domestic and internation-

al competition and the globalization of the economy 

increasingly require this kind of acquisition financing. 

the proposed authorization shall provide the company 

with the necessary range of options to seize any oppor-

tunities for the acquisition of companies or investments 

swiftly and in a flexible manner. this concern is met by 

the proposed preclusion of the shareholders’ subscription 

rights. there are no specific plans for making use of this 

authorization. in determining the valuation proportions, 

the management board will make sure that the share-

holders’ interests are duly considered. in calculating the 

value of shares disposed of as consideration, the man-

agement board will generally orient itself towards the 

stock market price of the share of elmos semiconductor 

aktiengesellschaft. the management board will report to 

the annual general meeting on each use of this authori-

zation.

moreover, the management board shall be able, sub-

ject to the supervisory board’s consent, to offer shares 

to employees and executives of the company, employ-

ees and members of the management of affiliated 

companies, freelancers, and members of the compa-

ny’s management board, or to provide and assign them 

as compensation component (even gratuitously). inso-

far as the company’s own shares have been acquired for 

one of the above-mentioned purposes by way of secu-

rity loan, the additional option shall be provided to use 

the acquired shares in fulfillment of the obligations from 

the security loan. by the issue of shares to the company’s 

employees, an additional kind of share-based payment is 

meant to be created in order to commit employees to the 

company and to attract qualified new employees to the 

company. the objectives incentive and employee com-

mitment to the company are in the company’s interest. 

the preclusion of the shareholders’ subscription rights 

with regard to the utilization of purchased own shares is 

a prerequisite to this. members of the company’s man-

agement board shall also be given the opportunity to be 

promised and assigned shares as share-based remunera-

tion by the supervisory board. the option to promise and 

assign the company’s own shares to the management 

board members as a remuneration component commits 

the members of the management board to the company 

and its economic success and is therefore in the compa-

ny’s interest as well. members of the management board 

who receive shares as remuneration on these grounds 

have an additional interest to work towards the com-

pany’s increase in shareholder value as expressed by its 

stock price. on the other hand, they bear the price risk. 

the decision on this is the sole responsibility of the super-

visory board as the proper decision-making body that also 

decides on the particulars of the share-based remunera-

tion of management board members in compliance with 

the statutory provisions for appropriateness (section 87 

(1) aktg). it is thus assured that the shareholders’ sub-

scription rights are precluded not excessively and only in 

the company’s interest.
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the management board shall be authorized, subject to 

the supervisory board’s consent, to retire the compa-

ny’s own shares acquired on the grounds of the proposed 

authorization resolution even without a new sharehold-

ers’ resolution. according to section 237 (3) no. 3 aktg, 

the annual general meeting may decide the retirement 

of no par shares without making a decrease of the share 

capital necessary. the proposed authorization provides 

for this option besides the shares’ retirement with a cap-

ital decrease. by a retirement of shares without a capital 

decrease, the remaining no par shares’ arithmetical por-

tion of the share capital rises automatically. therefore 

the management board shall be authorized to adjust the 

number of no par shares as they are reduced by retire-

ment in the articles of incorporation. 

2. REPORT OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD TO THE GENERAL 

MEETING ON AGENDA ITEM 10 (AUTHORIZATION TO 

ISSUE CONVERTIBLE BONDS OR OPTION BONDS, PROF-

IT PARTICIPATION RIGHTS OR PROFIT PARTICIPATING 

BONDS, AND THE CREATION OF CONDITIONAL CAPITAL) 

ACCORDING TO SECTION 221 (4) SENTENCE 2 IN CON-

JUNCTION WITH SECTION 186 (4) SENTENCE 2 AKTG 

the proposed authorizations for the issue of convert-

ible bonds or option bonds, profit participation rights 

or profit participating bonds, or a combination of these 

instruments (“bonds”) in the total nominal value of up to 

100,000,000 euro, and for the creation of corresponding 

conditional capital of up to 7,800,000 euro have the pur-

pose to enhance the options of elmos semiconductor 

aktiengesellschaft for financing its activities as explained 

in detail below and to open up the path for the manage-

ment board, subject to the supervisory board’s consent, 

towards flexible and timely financing in the interest of 

the company particularly upon the occurrence of favor-

able capital market conditions.

shareholders are generally entitled to statutory subscrip-

tion rights to bonds with conversion privileges or option 

rights, or rather conversion commitments (section 221 (4) 

aktg in conjunction with section 186 (1) aktg). in order 

to simplify proceedings, the option to issue the bonds to 

a credit institution or a consortium of credit institutions 

under the obligation to offer the bonds to the sharehold-

ers according to their subscription rights shall be made 

use of (indirect subscription right for the purpose of sec-

tion 186 (5) aktg). 

the preclusion of subscription rights to fractions facil-

itates the utilization of the proposed authorization by 

way of round figures. this simplifies the execution of 

the shareholders’ subscription rights. the preclusion of 

the subscription rights in favor of the holders of already 

issued bonds with conversion privileges or option rights 

or rather conversion commitments has the advantage 

that the conversion or option price does not have to be 

reduced with regard to already issued bonds and that a 

higher cash inflow is thus made possible altogether. both 

cases of subscription right preclusion are therefore in the 

interest of the company and its shareholders. 

the management board is also authorized, subject to the 

supervisory board’s consent, to preclude the sharehold-

ers’ subscription rights altogether if the issue of bonds 

with conversion privileges or option rights or rather con-

version commitments is realized at a price that does not 

materially undercut the market price of these bonds. the 

company is thus given the option to seize market oppor-

tunities swiftly and flexibly and to achieve better con-

ditions for the determination of interest rates and issue 

prices of bonds due to a definition of conditions close to 

the market. such a definition of conditions close to the 

market and an unobstructed placement would not be 

possible if the subscription rights were observed. sec-

tion 186 (2) aktg indeed allows for an announcement of 

the issue price (and thus the conditions of these bonds) 

until the third last day of the issue period. however, in 
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view of the often observed volatility at the stock markets, 

even then a market risk remains for several days, leading 

to the provision of haircuts in determining bond condi-

tions, and therefore to conditions not close to the market. 

if the subscription rights remain in effect, the successful 

placement with third parties is also jeopardized or sub-

ject to additional expense because of the uncertainty of 

the rights’ execution (subscription behavior). Finally, if the 

subscription rights remain in effect, the company cannot 

respond to favorable or unfavorable market conditions 

at short notice because of the length of the subscription 

period but is exposed instead to decreasing stock pric-

es during the subscription period, potentially resulting in 

unfavorable equity financing for the company.

For this case of total preclusion of the shareholders’ sub-

scription rights, the meaning of the provision of section 

186 (3) sentence 4 aktg applies, according to section 221 

(4) sentence 2 aktg. the limit for subscription right pre-

clusion of 10% of the share capital stipulated therein shall 

be observed, according to the resolution proposal. by a 

corresponding provision in the authorization proposal, 

it is also assured that even in case of a capital decrease, 

the 10% limit will not be exceeded, as the authorization 

for the preclusion of subscription rights shall expressly 

not exceed 10% of the share capital, neither at the time 

of coming into effect nor at the time of exercising the 

authorization. included in the aforementioned 10% lim-

it are new shares issued from authorized capital under 

preclusion of subscription rights according to section 186 

(3) sentence 4 aktg during the term of this authorization 

until the subscription-right precluded issue of bonds with 

conversion privileges or option rights or rather conversion 

commitments in analogous application of section 186 (3) 

sentence 4 aktg. also to be included are such shares that 

may have been taken up on the basis of an authoriza-

tion given by shareholders’ resolution in accordance with 

section 71 (1) no. 8 aktg and that are sold in analogous 

application of section 186 (3) sentence 4 aktg under pre-

clusion of subscription rights until the subscription-right 

precluded issue of bonds with conversion privileges or 

option rights or rather conversion commitments.

section 186 (3) sentence 4 aktg has the further conse-

quence that the issue price may not materially undercut 

the stock market price. this provision is meant to assure 

that a material economic dilution of the shares’ value will 

not take place. if such a dilutive effect occurs in case of a 

subscription-right precluded issue of bonds with conver-

sion privileges or option rights or rather conversion com-

mitments can be determined by calculating the hypo-

thetical stock market price of the bonds according to 

accepted methods, particularly applying financial math-

ematics, and then compared with the issue price. if this 

issue price is determined, after due examination, to be 

only insignificantly below the hypothetical stock mar-

ket price at the time of the issue of the bond, preclusion 

of the subscription rights is admissible for the purpose of 

the provision of section 186 (3) sentence 4 aktg due to 

the immaterial discount, because the arithmetical mar-

ket value of a subscription right drops close to nil so that 

the shareholders cannot suffer a material economic dis-

advantage by the preclusion of their subscription rights. 

the proposal therefore provides that the management 

board shall arrive at the opinion, after due examination 

and prior to the issue of bonds with conversion privileges 

or option rights, or rather conversion commitments, that 

the intended issue price will not lead to a material dilu-

tion of the shares’ value. independent of this examination 

to be carried out by the management board, a determi-

nation of conditions in line with the market and thus the 

prevention of a material dilution of value in case of carry-

ing out a book building procedure is assured. in this pro-

cedure, bonds are offered for a fixed issue price; howev-

er, individual conditions of the bonds (e.g. interest rate 

and term, if necessary) are determined on the basis of 

purchase bids submitted by investors, and thus the total 

value of the bonds is defined close to the market. all this 
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makes sure that a material dilution of the shares’ value 

by the preclusion of the shareholders’ subscription rights 

will not occur. 

Furthermore, the shareholders have the opportuni-

ty to maintain their portion of the company’s share cap-

ital anytime by the acquisition of shares on the stock 

exchange even after the exercise of conversion privileges 

or option rights or the occurrence of conversion commit-

ments. For the company, on the other hand, the authori-

zation for the preclusion of subscription rights allows the 

definition of conditions close to the market, the great-

est possible security with regard to the shares’ placement 

with third parties, and the exploitation of favorable mar-

ket scenarios at short notice. 

insofar as profit participation rights or profit participating 

bonds without conversion privileges or option rights 

or rather conversion commitments are intended to be 

issued, the management board is authorized, subject to 

the supervisory board’s consent, to preclude the share-

holders’ subscription rights altogether if these profit par-

ticipation rights or profit participating bonds are shaped 

similar to obligations, i.e. if they do not establish mem-

bership rights in the company, grant no participation in 

liquidation proceeds, and if the interest rate is not deter-

mined on the basis of the amount of net income, retained 

earnings, or the dividend. Furthermore, in this case inter-

est rates and the face value of profit participation rights 

or profit participating bonds shall correspond with the 

market conditions at the time of issuance. if these con-

ditions are fulfilled, the preclusion of subscription rights 

does not result in disadvantages for the shareholders 

as the profit participation rights or profit participating 

bonds neither establish membership rights nor grant a 

share of liquidation proceeds or the company’s profit.
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TOTAL NUMBERS OF SHARES AND VOTING RIGHTS

The company’s share capital comes to 19,414,205.00 Euro as 

of the convening of the Annual General Meeting and consists 

of 19,414,205 no par common bearer shares. Each no par 

share represents one vote in the Annual General Meeting. The 

total number of shares as well as the total number of voting 

rights is thus 19,414,205 as of the convening of the Annual 

General Meeting. 

PARTICIPATION IN THE GENERAL MEETING

According to Section 11 of the company’s articles of incorpo-

ration, shareholders are entitled to participation in the Annu-

al General Meeting and to the exercise of voting rights if they 

register their participation with the company at the follow-

ing address and submit special proof of their shareholdings, 

issued by their depositary bank, to the company at the fol-

lowing address:

ELMOS Semiconductor Aktiengesellschaft

c/o Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft

- General Meetings -

Postfach 20 01 07

60605 Frankfurt am Main, Germany 

Fax: +49 69 910 86045

E-mail: WP.HV@Xchanging.com

The proof of shareholdings must refer to the point in time as 

defined by the German Corporations Act, i.e. the beginning 

the 21st day prior to the General Meeting (record date), thus 

to the beginning of April 13, 2010, and must be received by 

the company together with the registration before midnight 

of April 27, 2010 at said address. Registration and proof of 

shareholdings must be in writing (Section 126b BGB) com-

posed in either German or English.

Entitlement to participation and the scope of voting rights 

exclusively follow the shareholder’s share ownership as of 

the record date. The record date does not have a blocking 

effect on the marketability of shareholdings. Even in the case 

of the entire or partial sale of shareholdings subsequent to 

the record date, the shareholder’s share ownership as of the 

record date remains the exclusively deciding quantity for  

participation and scope of voting rights; i.e. the sale of shares 

subsequent to the record date has no effect on the entitle-

ment to participation and the scope of voting rights. The 

same applies for the purchase of shares after the record date. 

Those who do not own any shares as of the record date and 

become shareholders later are not entitled to participation or 

the exercise of voting rights.

Upon the company’s receipt of registration and proof of 

shareholdings, tickets of admission to the Annual General 

Meeting will be sent to the shareholders by the registration 

office. In order to assure the timely receipt of admission  

tickets, we kindly ask our shareholders to request a ticket of 

admission to the Annual General Meeting from their  

depositary bank in good time. In this case, the required 

registration and the submission of proof of shareholdings 

are provided by the depositary bank. 

PROXY VOTING PROCEDURE

Granting power of proxy

Voting rights may be exercised by proxies. If neither a cred-

it institution nor a shareholders’ association or another enti-

ty comparable to a credit institution in accordance with Sec-

tion 135 (8) and (10) AktG is authorized, the power of proxy, 

its revocation, and the proof of proxy to the company must 

at least be furnished in text form (Section 134 (3) sentence 3 

AktG in conjunction with Section 126b BGB). The provision 

of Section 11.3 of the articles of incorporation, according to 

which the power of proxy requires written form (“Schrift-

form”) instead of merely text form (“Textform”), does not 

apply as text form is sufficient according to Section 134 (3) 

AktG, in its version amended by the Act on the Implementa-

tion of the Shareholders’ Rights Directive (ARUG).
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For our shareholders’ convenience, we enable them to autho-

rize proxies nominated by the company. The power of proxy 

and its revocation require at least text form in this case as 

well (Section 134 (3) sentence 3 AktG in conjunction with 

Section 126b BGB). If a proxy nominated by the company is 

authorized, the power of proxy must be accompanied by  

voting instructions. The company-nominated proxies are 

obligated to vote according to the shareholders’ instructions.  

Even in the case of proxy voting, the submission of registra-

tion and proof of shareholdings must be made in due time 

according to above-mentioned regulations.

For granting the power of proxy to credit institutions, share-

holders’ associations, or other entities comparable to a credit 

institution in accordance with Section 135 (8) and (10) AktG, 

its revocation, and proof of the power of proxy, legal pro-

visions apply, in particular Section 135 AktG. Credit institu-

tions, shareholders’ associations, and other entities compara-

ble to a credit institution in accordance with Section 135 (8) 

and (10) AktG may provide special regulations for the proce-

dure of their own authorization. Shareholders are therefore 

asked to contact the entity to be authorized in good time in 

consideration of potential special requirements for the form 

of granting power of proxy.

Submission of the power of proxy to the company

Proof of the power of proxy must be either furnished by the 

proxy at the day of the Annual General Meeting or submit-

ted by way of declaration to the company prior to the Annual 

General Meeting to: 

Hauptversammlungsstelle der

ELMOS Semiconductor AG

Heinrich-Hertz-Straße 1

44227 Dortmund, Germany

Fax: +49 231 7549-548

E-mail: HV-2010@elmos.de

At the day of the Annual General Meeting, the only place 

available for furnishing proof of the power of proxy is at the 

registration desk at Casino Hohensyburg, Hohensyburgstraße 

200, 44265 Dortmund, from 9:00 a.m. to just before the 

beginning of voting procedures.

Shareholders who intend to grant the power of proxy to 

proxies nominated by the company prior to the Annual Gen-

eral Meeting are asked for organizational considerations to 

please submit the power of proxy and the voting instructions 

before midnight of April 30, 2010 (company’s receipt) by 

mail, fax, or e-mail to the following address.

ELMOS Semiconductor AG

c/o ITTEB GmbH & Co. KG

Vogelanger 25

86937 Scheuring, Germany

Fax: +49 (0) 8195 – 99 89 664

E-mail: hv@itteb.de

Provision of proxy forms

Shareholders who have registered according to Section 11 of 

the articles of incorporation receive a proper form for grant-

ing the power of proxy as part of the ticket of admission. In 

addition, a proxy form is available on the company’s web-

site for download at www.elmos.de/englisch/investor-rela-

tions/annual-general-meeting. 

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (MOTIONS, ELECTION PROPOSALS, 

REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION)

1. Supplements to the agenda

Shareholders whose combined share ownership come 

to a twentieth of the share capital or the proportion-

ate amount of EUR 500,000 (corresponds with 500,000 

shares) are entitled to request, in accordance with Section 

122 (2) AktG, that topics of their choice are announced 

and put on the agenda. Each new topic must be accom-

panied by an explanatory statement or a resolution pro-

posal. The request must be directed to the company’s 

Management Board in writing.  
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It must be received by the company at least 30 days 

prior to the day of the AGM, namely before midnight of 

April 3, 2010.

We ask to submit any requests for supplements to the 

agenda to the following address:

Vorstand der ELMOS Semiconductor Aktiengesellschaft

Heinrich-Hertz-Straße 1 

44227 Dortmund, Germany

Any supplements to the agenda subject to announce-

ment are – unless they have already been announced 

upon the convening of the AGM – announced in the 

electronic Federal Gazette promptly upon the request’s 

receipt and transmitted for publication to media out-

lets of which it can be expected to spread the informa-

tion throughout the entire European Union. They are also 

announced on the Internet at www.elmos.de/englisch/

investor-relations/annual-general-meeting. 

2. Countermotions and election proposals

Each shareholder is entitled in accordance with Section 

126 (1) AktG to submit countermotions with regard to 

the resolution proposals on the agenda items. If coun-

termotions are meant to be made accessible by the com-

pany, they must be received by the company with an 

explanatory statement and proof of shareholder capac-

ity at least 14 days prior to the Annual General Meet-

ing, i.e. before midnight of April 19, 2010, at the follow-

ing address:

Hauptversammlungsstelle

ELMOS Semiconductor Aktiengesellschaft 

Heinrich-Hertz-Straße 1 

44227 Dortmund, Germany 

Fax: +49 (0)231/7549-548

E-mail: HV-2010@elmos.de

Otherwise addressed countermotions will not be made 

accessible. Subject to Section 126 (2) and (3) AktG, share-

holders’ countermotions to be made accessible will be 

made available on the Internet at www.elmos.de/eng-

lisch/investor-relations/annual-general-meeting, 

including the shareholder’s name and the explanatory 

statement as well as any corresponding statements of  

the administration. 

According to Section 127 AktG, these provisions apply 

analogously to a shareholder’s proposal for the election 

of Supervisory Board members or auditors. Those pro-

posals do not require explanatory statements, though. In 

addition to the reasons named by Section 126 (2) AktG, 

the Management Board does not have to make an elec-

tion proposal accessible if the proposal does not contain 

the candidate’s name, actual occupation, and place of 

residence. Proposals for the election of Supervisory Board 

members do also not have to be made accessible if they 

do not contain information on the Supervisory Board 

candidates’ membership in other statutory supervisory 

boards pursuant to Section 125 (1) sentence 5 AktG.

3. Requests for information

In accordance with Section 131 (1) AktG, the Manage-

ment Board must give information on the company’s 

matters upon any shareholder’s request at the Gener-

al Meeting, insofar as the information is necessary for 

the proper assessment of an item on the agenda and 

no right to withhold information applies. The Manage-

ment Board’s duty to provide information also includes 

the legal and business relationships ELMOS Semicon-

ductor Aktiengesellschaft maintains with its affiliat-

ed companies. The duty to provide information further-

more includes the situation of the ELMOS Semiconductor 

Group and the subsidiaries included in the consolidated 

financial statements of ELMOS Semiconductor Aktienge-

sellschaft.
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4. Further explanations

More detailed explanations of the shareholders’ rights in 

accordance with Sections 122 (2), 126 (1), 127, and 131 

(1) AktG are available on the Internet at www.elmos.de/

englisch/investor-relations/annual-general-meeting. 

PUBLICATION OF THE INVITATION TO THE GENERAL MEET-

ING AND OF OTHER DOCUMENTS RELATING TO THE GENER-

AL MEETING

The information to be made accessible on the company’s 

website in accordance with Section 124a AktG, particular-

ly the convening of the General Meeting, the documents to 

be made available at the General Meeting, shareholders’ 

motions, and further information, is available on the Internet 

at www.elmos.de/englisch/investor-relations/annual-gen-

eral-meeting.

Voting results are announced subsequent to the General 

Meeting at the same Internet address.

The convening of the Annual General Meeting is announced 

in the electronic Federal Gazette of March 22, 2010 and 

transmitted for publication to media outlets of which it can 

be expected to spread the information throughout the entire 

European Union.

INTERNET BROADCAST OF THE GENERAL MEETING

All shareholders of ELMOS Semiconductor Aktiengesellschaft 

and the interested public may follow, by order of the AGM’s 

chairman, the entire length of the General Meeting live on 

the Internet (www.elmos.de) on May 4, 2010 starting at 

10:00 a.m. Unrestricted online access to the live webcast will 

be made available under www.elmos.de/englisch/investor-

relations/annual-general-meeting. 

Dortmund, March 2010

 

ELMOS Semiconductor Aktiengesellschaft 

The Management Board

GENERAL  
INFORMATION
ADMISSION

the doors to the annual general meeting will open on may 4, 

2010 at 9:00 a.m.

PARKING SPACE

parking space will be available to our visitors at the casino 

hohensyburg for the duration of our annual general meeting. 

please present your parking ticket upon registration so that we 

can exchange it for a parking voucher for free parking.

BUS TRANSFER FROM/TO DORTMUND

there will be a free shuttle bus to the general meeting at  

the casino hohensyburg provided by the company  

horn-reisen, departing at 9:00 a.m. from the Dortmund  

bus terminal opposite the main station. the bus departs  

from the casino hohensyburg at 1:00 p.m. to return to  

the bus terminal Dortmund.

PUBLIC TRANSPORT

the casino bus connects the casino hohensyburg with  

the Dortmund bus terminal at hourly intervals beginning 

at 2:03 p.m.
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DIRECTIONS
on a1 from Köln (cologne), take the exit hagen-nord.  

From there follow the signs to the casino hohensyburg.

on a44 or a2, head towards Dortmund-Zentrum 

(city center) first. From the city, you will get to the casino 

hohensyburg via b54 south.

on a45, take the exit Dortmund-süd in the direction of 

hohensyburg.

From there follow the signs to the casino hohensyburg.

  casino hohensyburg

  hohensyburgstraße 200

  44265 Dortmund 
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Due to calculation processes, tables and references may produce rounding differences from the 

mathematically exact values (monetary units, percentage statements, etc.).

in million euro unless otherwise indicated 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

sales 147.0 160.7 176.1 175.1 123.8

sales growth 2.6% 9.3% 9.6% – 0.6% –29.3%

gross profit 70.6 73.0 73.1 75.6 35.9

gross margin 48.1% 45.5% 41.5% 43.2% 29.0%

research and development expenses 28.1 29.6 30.9 31.6 25.3

research and development expenses in % of sales 19.1% 18.4% 17.5% 18.1% 20.4%

ebit 20.0 19.8 15.2 16.5 –15.8

ebit in % of sales 13.6% 12.3% 8.6% 9.4% –12.8%

income before income taxes 16.4 17.3 12.2 14.7 –17.3

income before income taxes in % of sales 11.2% 10.8% 6.9% 8.4% –14.0%

net income/(net loss) 10.0 10.7 8.8 10.6 –12.2

net income margin 6.8% 6.7% 5.0% 6.1% –9.9%

earnings per share in euro 0.52 0.55 0.45 0.55 – 0.63

total assets 237.0 245.3 249.3 250.1 226.4

shareholders’ equity 144.3 152.3 160.0 171.2 159.1

equity ratio 60.9% 62.1% 64.2% 68.5% 70.3%

Financial liabilities 67.9 65.0 54.0 40.6 40.8

cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities 16.8 16.6 42.9 42.5 46.8

net debt /(net cash) 51.2 48.4 11.1 – 1.8 – 6.0

cash flow from operating activities 19.7 28.5 30.8 22.5 9.4

capital expenditures 29.6 26.4 24.5 20.8 7.4

capital expenditures in % of sales 20.1% 16.4%  13.9% 11.9% 6.0%

cash flow from investing activities – 30.4 – 19.9 – 1.4 – 12.2 –5.5

Free cash flow* – 10.7 8.6 29.4 10.3 3.9

“clean” free cash flow** – 9.9 2.2 6.3 1.7 2.1

Dividend per share in euro 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00***

employees on annual average 1,028 1,131 1,177 1,117 1,038

* Cash flow from operating activities less cash flow from investing activities

** Cash flow from operating activities less capital expenditures

*** Subject to shareholders’ resolution at the Annual General Meeting in May 2010

OVERVIEW
five-year overview elmos group (ifrs)
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MANAGEMENT BOARD
 
CEO letter

in 2009, the year of crisis, i do not want to begin my letter to you by reporting the problems we 

faced and how bad everything was. i would like to do quite the opposite and report the good 

news, namely …

… that we have survived the deepest crisis elmos has yet had to endure, with an approximate 

50% sales drop over the first half-year 2009, with sufficient cash at our disposal at any time so 

that the company’s continued existence was never at stake.

… that the entire elmos group has resolutely implemented a cost cutting scheme since the 

beginning of the year 2009, involving all employees – even the staff of our subsidiaries –, that 

resulted in savings of roughly 15 million euro by the end of the year.

… that the cost savings together with strict cash management had the effect that we man-

aged to generate a positive free cash flow of roughly 3.9 million euro in 2009 despite the sales 

drop of about 50 million euro.

… that the created room to maneuver financially enabled us even in the third quarter 2009 to 

resume the 8-inch expansion and to continue the modernization of our Dortmund production 

lines.

… that we achieved an increase in volume/sales of roughly 40% from the second to the third 

quarter 2009, completely fulfilling each customer’s order.

…that we broke even again in the third quarter already – one quarter ahead of our forecast – 

and that our earnings were clearly positive in the fourth quarter once again.

… and last but not least, that we have made progress with our strategy despite the crisis, espe-

cially with respect to standard products (assps), the focus on microsystems, and the market 

expansion in asia.
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these successes show that we have not merely overcome the crisis but rather turned it to use 

to get better in many respects. this will be of benefit to us during the upswing, too.

it is important to make a note of the fact that this was possible only because all the people 

involved pulled together, communication was working, and the work was done with under-

standing and professionalism. this holds true for our customers as well as for all of our employ-

ees.

We perfectly understood the situation of our customers, even when it meant that orders were 

canceled and volumes were significantly reduced in the first half-year. but we were ready and 

delivered promptly when the order books filled up faster than expected; this was anything 

but a matter of course as our customers had to learn from other suppliers. When things went 

uphill again, elmos was one of the very few if not indeed the only semiconductor manufac-

turer able to meet all customer demands. We responded faster and more consistently to the 

upswing than others and acted with foresight. thus we managed to tighten relationships and 

reward the confidence placed in us. We notice this in our everyday business now, for instance 

when contracts for new projects are awarded or when we present our standard applications 

to a customer. the industry knows that elmos offers outstanding know-how for mixed-signal 

ics and system solutions. When it comes to manufacturing and delivery on schedule, elmos is 

a reliable partner – even in times of crisis.

our employees look back on a difficult year as well. at the beginning of the year 2009 we had 

to introduce short-time work worldwide. even in countries that did not provide the required 

legal framework we realized specific solutions in agreement with the respective national 

authorities, e.g. at our subsidiaries smi in california/u.s.a. and elmos advanced packaging in 

the netherlands. employees who could not participate in short-time work for operational rea-

sons, and of course the members of the management board, volunteered for considerable cuts 

of their salaries or remuneration. all taken together, this had a great share in our cost cutting 

scheme of roughly 15 million euro. it gives evidence not only of our employees’ commitment 

but their identification with the company as well.

“It is important to make a note of the fact that this was 

possible only because all the people involved pulled 

together, communication was working, and the work was 

done with understanding and professionalism.”
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only with an excellent team is it possible to master the challenges caused by volatile markets.

With regard to the future, i am cautiously optimistic due to the economic framework. the pres-

ent upswing is not stable yet, the overall economic situation still holds risks. We are expecting 

an increase in sales of more than 15% for the whole year 2010. While orders reach well into the 

second quarter of 2010, it remains unclear whether the market demand will stabilize beyond 

that. elmos will resolutely continue the structural saving measures that make us more pro-

ductive and more competitive. the crisis made us refocus on costs once more while keeping 

our growth in view. We will not rest on past achievements. bringing about change is a perma-

nent challenge. We have the courage for it and will seize our opportunities – and that is what 

counts.

For the past year i would like to thank everyone involved in the enterprise that is elmos on 

behalf of the entire management board once again: our customers and partners, our employ-

ees, and our supervisory board. everyone had a share in our successful effort to seize the crisis 

as a productive condition.* 

sincerely

Dr. Anton Mindl

CEO of ELMOS Semiconductor AG

* Borrowing a phrase/Paraphrasing a quote from Max Frisch (1911−1991): “A crisis is a productive condition.  

 One must only take away its taste of disaster.”  
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Dr. anton mindl 
-> ceo  | graduate physicist  (born 1957) 
-> management board member since 2005 | ... appointed until 2015 

-> Key areas of responsibility: strategy, quality, human resources,  

 and micromechanics 

nicolaus graf von luckner 
-> graduate economist  (born 1949) 
-> management board member since 2006 | ... appointed until 2011 

-> Key areas of responsibility: finances, controlling, investor relations,  

 corporate governance,  administration, purchasing, information technology

Jürgen höllisch 
-> engineer (born 1971) 
-> management board member since 2008 | ... appointed until 2013 

-> Key areas of responsibility: sales, design, product lines, projects, optoelectronics 

reinhard senf 
-> graduate engineer  (born 1951) 
-> management board member since 2001 | ... appointed until 2011 

-> Key areas of responsibility: manufacturing, assembly,  

 technology development 

 

Reinhard Senf,

Nicolaus Graf von Luckner, 

Dr. Anton Mindl, 

Jürgen Höllisch (from left)
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GROup MANAGEMENT REpORT |
ExTRAcT

BuSINESS AND EcONOMIc FRAMEWORK

Business activity

elmos develops, manufactures, and markets highly integrated microelectronic circuits. the 

company was founded in the year 1984 in Dortmund where it keeps its headquarters and larg-

est manufacturing site. the products – so-called semiconductors – find use primarily in two in-

dustries: roughly 85% of sales are generated with electronics for the automotive industry, the 

remaining 15% are accounted for by products for industrial and consumer goods electronics.

elmos: the specialist For automotive electronics

the share of electronics in the automobile is constantly increasing: comfort applications such 

as parking systems, air conditioning or power door locks are taken for granted today as fea-

tures of contemporary vehicles. safety electronics in particular have made a quantum leap 

over the last few years, from the first much-debated airbag to today’s equipment with abs, 

esp, and many other functions. over the next years lower gas consumption will be the focal 

point of attention. Further reductions are possible only through the intelligent use of electron-

ics – this holds true especially for the use of electric powertrains.

elmos develops and manufactures semiconductor chips and sensors, in other words the brain-

power behind automotive electronics. our chips control and measure these systems. example 

powertrain application: our solutions are distinguished by highly precise analog input ampli-

fiers, power amplifiers, and integrated microprocessors – everything up-to-date electronics 

ELMOS develops, manufactures, and markets highly integrated 

microelectronic circuits. The company was founded in the year 

1984 in Dortmund where it keeps its headquarters as well as its 

largest manufacturing site. 
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require to make driving a car as eco-friendly and efficient as possible. therefore elmos chips 

are used by virtually all auto brands worldwide.

one characteristic of semiconductors for the automotive market is the long product life cycle. 

new automotive projects usually require development periods between one and three years 

before being series-produced for about five to eight years. sometimes the duration of the prod-

uct life cycle changes considerably if car manufacturers put to use a similar technical platform 

for a family of new car models.  unlike many other semiconductor manufacturers, elmos is 

able to supply its customers with the same chip over a long period because of special manu-

facturing options. other characteristics of our business are the very high quality requirements 

and the robust semiconductor technology.

since its formation, elmos has achieved a leading market position as semiconductor manu-

facturer in the market for automotive electronics. immediate competitors are austriamicro-

systems, melexis, and on semiconductor.  When it comes to projects involving very high vol-

umes, elmos also competes with major semiconductor manufacturers such as Freescale, 

infineon, nXp, and stmicrolectronics. 

 

customer anD application speciFic components

elmos predominantly manufactures products by customer order for a specific application, 

exclusively for the respective customer. apart from these customer specific circuits (asics), 

comprising more than 90% of the products, elmos also offers a portfolio of application spe-

cific standard products (assps). elmos manufactures asics and assps so far almost exclusive-

ly at the company’s own production sites (wafer fabs) in Dortmund and Duisburg. Depending 

on capacity requirements, we are prepared to have service providers manufacture automotive 

semiconductors for us in the next years as well (so-called foundry services). 

potential in the marKets For inDustrial anD consumer gooDs 

apart from the automotive market, elmos has been busy in the industrial and consumer 

goods markets, supplying semiconductors e.g. for applications in household appliances, pho-

to cameras, medical, installation and facility technology, and machine control. this non-auto-

motive sector, and the micromechanics area in particular, was not affected by the global crisis 

to the same extent as the automotive market in the past year. Deliveries for new projects were 

started as well. against this backdrop, sales generated in the markets for industrial and con-

sumer goods increased to a share of 15% of total group sales. the sales share is scheduled to 

rise to 20 to 30% in the medium term.
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eXtensive proDuct portFolio

sales are in large part generated with semiconductors; this product portfolio is enhanced by 

micro-electro-mechanical components (mems). these are mainly silicon-based high-precision 

pressure sensors designed, manufactured, and marketed by our subsidiary silicon microstruc-

tures (smi) in milpitas, u.s.a. the manufacturing subsidiary elmos advanced packaging b.v. 

(elmos ap), based in nijmegen in the netherlands, supports the technology and product port-

folio with the development and production of special packages for electronic semiconductor 

components and sensors. Development and marketing of application specific micro-mecha-

tronic modules complete the range of products. these so-called microsystems combine the 

capabilities of the elmos group and consist of signal processing semiconductor elements and 

micromechanical sensors in a functional package. this combination makes it possible for the 

customer to realize cost-effective system solutions.

Strategy

in the year 2009 we continued to work on the scheduled implementation of the strategy we 

have embarked on – in spite of the worldwide crisis. We remain convinced that the invest-

ments in the realization of our strategy will pay off even from an economic viewpoint. We are 

able to operate on the basis of a solid liquidity position and balance sheet strength. the stra-

tegic cornerstones and the progress made already are outlined in the following paragraphs. 

From custom tailor to trenDsetter

elmos has made a name for itself as specialist for solutions in the area of automotive and 

industrial semiconductors. these so-called application specific integrated circuits (asics) are 

based on the principle that exclusive customer requests and application requirements have 

been identified and suitable approaches to solutions have been developed − therefore these 

types of semiconductors are also called “customer specific semiconductors”. over the past 

years we have seen a trend toward more standardized components. Driven by the general 

economic framework, many customers have decided to forgo exclusive solutions and to use 

application specific standard products increasingly − so-called assps. elmos started early 

on to identify and develop such products. First assps have been successfully brought to mar-

ket already. internal structures have been adjusted to the new market conditions in order to 

strengthen the market position with purpose and competence and to press ahead with trend 

setting products, made possible by the competent proximity maintained to many customers. 

in many cases this works even regardless of specific markets and regions, opening up addi-

tional marketing opportunities. among the most important product lines are interface, motor 

control, sensors, and safety.
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stronger entrY into marKets For inDustrial anD consumer gooDs  

historically speaking, our strength resides in the automotive market. however, we recognize 

considerable, as yet unaddressed opportunities for our products in the markets for industri-

al and consumer goods. in order to seize our opportunities, we have increased our efforts in 

this area significantly. We have contracted additional distributors to address a global custom-

er base. in addition, we are targeting key customers in these markets with our own sales team 

specialized in industrial and consumer goods markets. We were successful last year in win-

ning a large number of new projects and bringing recent projects to series-production readi-

ness. the fields of network systems, lighting concepts, sensorics, and power supply meet with 

great customer attention. in the medium term the non-automotive markets are scheduled to 

amount to 20 to 30% of sales of elmos. 

Development oF the asian marKets 

so far we have assumed a strong position on the german market and the other european mar-

kets. We have gained a foothold in the u.s. market and established valuable contacts there. 

over the past years we have forced the pace of developing the asian market, particularly in 

Japan and south Korea. in support of this effort we have strengthened our marketing activi-

ties with our own staff and with representatives and entered into strategic partnerships with 

asian companies. these activities resulted in recording a large number of design wins and 

receiving the release for the series production of new products. in consequence, a considerably 

bigger share of sales will be generated with asian customers in 2010 than in 2009. 

establishing strategic partnerships 

through strategic cooperations with partners we can make useful additions to our own capa-

bilities in order to offer a broader product portfolio in the long term and thus increase our 

competitiveness. in 2007 we concluded agreements for two partnerships. one cooperation 

agreement was signed with Korean foundry magnachip. together we are developing a new 

technology generation, and this partnership also enables us to purchase processed wafers so 

that we can cut down on our expenditure requirements in the medium term and react more 

flexibly to heavily fluctuating unit numbers. We have transferred our automotive process to 

magnachip and will start production in 2010. these additional external production capaci-

ties in combination with the in-house manufacture make it possible for elmos to realize a so-

called fab light concept. another agreement was concluded with nec electronics, including 

joint development, mutual access to development and manufacturing services, and joint mar-

keting of products for the automotive and industrial markets. customers of both companies 

will benefit especially from the combination of the strengths of nec electronics in the realm of 

8 to 32 bit microcontrollers with the robust and reliable, application specific analog/mixed-sig-

nal semiconductor chips made by elmos. one first product is a component for a new commu-

nication system used in industrial automation called io-link.
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bigger share oF microsYstems 

microsystems, consisting of asics/assps and mems in a customer specific package, will see 

rising demand in the next years. as one of only a few companies, elmos is able to develop and 

manufacture complete microsystems within its group of companies, the elmos group. the 

development of microsystem projects has been pushed over the past fiscal years to the effect 

that in 2009 a microsystem for a safety application entered series production. in addition, a 

first standard microsystem, namely a pressure sensor system suited for applications for indus-

trial, medical and automotive markets, is now available to the customers.  

Organizational structure

the corporate structure of elmos responds to demands defined by the customers, particular-

ly in the automotive industry, as well as the customers’ requirements for innovation, quality, 

flexibility, and delivery reliability. the resulting tight customer-supplier relationship is reflect-

ed by the elmos group’s structural layout. the organizational structure of the elmos group is 

constantly being reviewed and adjusted to the requirements.

several branches, subsidiaries, and partner companies at various locations in germany, europe, 

and all over the world provide distribution and application support to the customer on the 

spot. apart from the manufacturing locations in Dortmund, Duisburg, nijmegen/netherlands, 

and milpitas/california, u.s.a., this network comprises among others the munich branch and 

the subsidiary companies elmos France, elmos north america, mechaless, and geD. elmos 

France attends to the French and southern european markets and provides customer service 

on location. For elmos, France is the most important regional market apart from germany. 

elmos north america services the north american market from its headquarters in Farming-

ton hills near Detroit, u.s.a., the center of the american automobile industry. elmos is repre-

sented in asia with offices in Japan and south Korea.

in the course of the increased sale of assps and non-automotive products, elmos also mar-

kets its products through various distributors. the elmos group collaborates with a large 

number of partners in europe, u.s.a., and asia. in 2009 we particularly expanded our activities 

on the asian markets with additional distributors and representatives. the collaboration facil-

itates design wins and the logistic realization of new contracts for electronics used in auto-

motive applications, industrial and consumer goods applications, and medical technology. the 

distributors are distinguished by a broad customer portfolio, great comprehension of applica-

tions, and high reliability. 
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elmos distinguishes in its segment reporting between the business sectors semiconductor and 

micromechanics. the micromechanics segment reflects the business operations of smi. all other com-

panies and activities are entered in the semiconductor segment.

relationships With aFFiliateD companies

until December 31, 2009 elmos Finanzholding gmbh (eFh) was the largest single shareholder of 

elmos, with indirect and direct shareholdings of 52.9%. therefore the management board prepared 

a report on relationships with affiliated companies according to sections 312/313 aktg, concluding 

with the following declaration in accordance with section 312 (3) aktg: “We declare in accordance 

with section 312 (3) aktg that no reportable events took place in fiscal year 2009.”

Holding, 
real estate, 

other

Operating
business

Legend:

100% 100% 100% 73,9% 100% 45% 100%

100%100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 67,6%

ELMOS Semiconductor AG 
dortmund

Gesell-
schaft für 
Halbleiter-

prüftechnik 
GmbH

dortmund

Other
Companies

ELMOS 
Services 

B.V.  
(Holding)
nether-
lands

ELMOS USA 
Inc.

(Holding)
 u.s.a.

ELMOS 
France 
S.A.S.

france

Gärtner 
Electronic

Design 
GmbH

frankfurt 
(oder)

Other 
Companies

ELMOS 
Design 

Services 
B.V.

nether-
lands

ELMOS 
Advanced 

Packaging B.V.
nether-
lands

Micro 
Systems on 

Silicon 
(MOS) Ltd., 

south
africa

ELMOS 
St. Peters-

burg, 
russia

attoSENSOR 
GmbH

penzberg

MECHALESS
Systems 
GmbH

karlsruhe

ELMOS 
Facility 

Management 
GmbH 

& Co. KG
dortmund

ELMOS 
Central IT 
Services 
GmbH & 

Co. KG
dortmund

Silicon 
Micro- 

structures 
Inc.

 u.s.a.

ELMOS 
N.A. Inc.

u.s.a.



42

[1] INVITATION TO THE ANNUAL MEETING 2010

after the balance sheet date, the shareholders of eFh decided a reorganization of eFh as a 

result of which eFh ceased to exist. more information about this can be found in the report on 

subsequent events.

General economic framework

the market for semiconductor chips for the automotive industry, a niche market of the glob-

al semiconductor industry, is the most important market for elmos. it comprises a share of 

between 7% and 8% of the entire worldwide semiconductor market.

automotive inDustrY

in Germany numbers of new car registrations showed a positive development as a conse-

quence of the car-scrap bonus for old vehicles (“abwrackprämie”). over the whole year 2009, 

3.8 million cars were newly registered in germany (+23%), according to the german associa-

tion of the automotive industry (vDa). only two other Western european markets recorded 

higher figures than the year before: France (+10.7%) and austria (+8.8%). in all other Western 

european countries, the car registration numbers were down, e.g. italy (−0.2%), great britain 

(−6.4%), and spain (−17.9%). taken as a whole, the market in Western europe remained stable in 

comparison with 2008, with a volume of 13.6 million new vehicles (+0.5%).

the U.S. market collapsed in 2009 considering the whole year – despite a subsidy program 

in place (“cash for clunkers”). according to the vDa, 21% fewer cars were sold than the year 

before. on the whole, the u.s. market had a volume of 10.4 million automobiles. the extent of 

the decline becomes even more apparent by two-year-comparison. compared to the sales vol-

ume of the year 2007 (16.1 million cars), about 5.7 million fewer cars were sold in 2009. this 

means a decline by more than one third.

the Asian markets were the growth drivers of the global automotive industry in 2009. sales 

generated in the chinese market spearheaded this trend. Fueled by official purchase incentive 

schemes, car sales gained 54% in the year 2009 to roughly 13.6 million vehicles. thus china 

has surpassed the u.s. as the world’s largest sales market. india also showed a remarkable 17% 

growth to about 2 million cars in 2009. 
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For germany the vDa anticipates a considerable decline in 2010 after the extraordinary year 

2009 for registrations due to special effects such as the car-scrap bonus. the domestic car  

market is supposed to go down to between 2.75 and 3.0 million new registrations in 2010. 

however, the vDa considers this probable development merely a return to german normalcy, 

or rather an amount only slightly below the german car market’s average of many years. 

For the global market a slight recovery can be anticipated. the chinese market is expected 

to increase significantly once more, by at least 10% compared to 2009. the vDa also sees a 

10% increase over the previous year for the u.s. the worldwide auto production is expected to 

amount to roughly 55 million cars in 2010 (2009: 53 million cars).

automotive semiconDuctor marKet

usually the automotive semiconductor market grows even if car production stagnates. this 

is due to the constantly rising share of electronic systems in the automobile. a trend analysis 

conducted by the german electrical and electronic manufacturers' association (Zvei) assumes 

that microelectronics, particularly for powertrain applications, will record double digit growth 

rates over the next five years worldwide. passenger safety is another area that shows high 

growth rates.

according to the Zvei trend analysis, the global automotive semiconductor demand will keep 

growing. in 2008 semiconductors worth roughly 300 u.s. dollars were installed per car; in 2013 

this volume is supposed to be up to 400 u.s. dollars. For the niche market of automotive semi-

conductors, the market research institute semicast predicts a growth of 16% in 2010 over 

2009. 

electronics inDustrY

the german electronics industry’s production output will probably rise in 2010 between 3 and 

4%. in the year of crisis 2009 the production volume dropped 22% according to the Zvei. sales 

are expected to increase from 145 billion euro to 150 billion euro. the global trends that push 

the industry are increasing requirements for energy efficiency and a growing demand for infra-

structure equipment as well as up-to-date medical technology.

general semiconDuctor marKet

there is not a single market research institute that does not predict a double digit growth for 

the global semiconductor market in 2010. With a sales plus of 12.2%, World semiconductor 

trade statistics (Wsts) defines the minimum growth for 2010. the forecast of Future horizons 

represents the upper limit with a predicted growth of 22%. on the average, a 15% increase is 

expected (source: natixis securities).
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Production

elmos semiconductor ag operates semiconductor manufacturing sites in Dortmund and 

Duisburg. the manufacture at the headquarters in Dortmund produces on 150mm wafers 

(six inches), the Duisburg manufacturing plant produces semiconductors on 200mm wafers 

(eight inches). in the Dortmund test area, wafers and packaged components are subjected to 

electric tests in order to make sure that only products in line with the specifications are deliv-

ered to the customers. elmos has other manufacturing sites in addition to the two semicon-

ductor plants: at the production location nijmegen in the netherlands, the subsidiary elmos 

advanced packaging focuses primarily on the business areas package development and man-

ufacture of special packages for micromechanical systems (mems) as well as taping and pack-

ing (tape & reel). at the location of the subsidiary smi in milpitas, california, mems pressure  

sensors are manufactured on 6-inch wafers. 

sales generated by the elmos group were on a significant decline, particularly in the first half-

year 2009, due to the worldwide crisis. at both chip manufacturing locations Dortmund and 

Duisburg, the number of wafers-in was reduced for economic reasons. the number of chips 

produced accordingly went down in comparison to the previous year. production costs were 

reduced because of the introduction of short-time work, stringent cost-cutting measures, 

and the implementation of efficiency increasing measures; however, they did not go down 

to the same extent as the number of chips produced, due to the high level of a semiconduc-

tor manufacture’s fixed costs. as part of the bundle of cost-saving measures, investments in 

capacity expansion were postponed. the scheduled conversion of part of the manufacture 

in Dortmund from 150mm to 200mm was resumed with structural work in the second half-

year. this includes for instance the initial operation of equipment required for new process-

es or new 8-inch wafers. We integrate our know-how and the experience gained at our 8-inch 

wafer fab in Duisburg intensively into planning and activities; we have e.g. already established 

ELMOS Semiconductor AG operates 

semiconductor manufacturing sites 

in Dortmund and Duisburg.
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a few back-up solutions for Duisburg at the Dortmund location. With the partial changeover 

we safeguard the competitiveness of the Dortmund manufacturing site even on an interna-

tional scale.

the group’s own manufacturing sites are completed by cooperations with contract manufac-

turers (foundries). in the future these foundries will make additional capacities available if nec-

essary, thus enabling elmos to respond flexibly even to heavily fluctuating demand. the pro-

duction opportunity at a foundry partner is intended to be seized especially for assps as well 

as for products intended for industrial and consumer goods markets.

Research and development

the ever increasing use and complexity of electronic components in the automobile lead to 

the automotive industry’s constantly rising demands on quality and reliability of automotive 

electronics. in order to guarantee the auto industry’s high quality level, the electronic compo-

nents are tested according to in-house qualification procedures in addition to the qualifica-

tions defined by international standards. parallel to that, elmos makes use of the know-how 

gained with automotive electronics for the expansion of activities in the market of industrial 

electronics. 

the development activity of elmos centers on the market-oriented expansion of the prod-

uct portfolio. the majority of the company’s product development costs are pre-financed by 

elmos, to be amortized through series production. this especially applies for the development 

of application specific standard products which are going to come to a larger share of the total 

sales of elmos in the future. the provision of financial resources for these future-oriented 

projects had a very special significance during the economic crisis.

the focal point of process development was the expansion of the 0.35µm process family. 

research and development expenses were reduced by 20.0% to 25.3 million euro in the year 

under report (2008: 31.6 million euro). this corresponds with a ratio of 20.4% of sales, slightly 

higher than the prior-year ratio (2008: 18.1%) because of the heavy sales decline.
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Employees

For elmos as a technology company, the employees’ know-how is a particularly crucial fac-

tor. their motivation, expert knowledge, and flexibility are the prerequisite to the company’s 

long-term success. especially with regard to the development of new products and processes, 

the employees represent the deciding criterion for growth and innovation. at the locations in 

Dortmund and Duisburg, in germany’s most-populated federal state north rhine-Westpha-

lia, elmos is able to recruit from a great number of well-trained young engineers as there are 

more than 50 universities and colleges in the vicinity. elmos has maintained a close coopera-

tion with these institutions ever since the company’s foundation and holds a singular position 

as the sole semiconductor manufacturer in the region. elmos offers professional training for 

a variety of commercial and technical professions, with an emphasis on the training of micro-

technologists. by the end of 2009 there were 36 trainees in Dortmund (2008: 46).

Other subsidiaries
ELMOS Advanced Packaging
Silicon Microstructures
ELMOS Dortmund & Duisburg

Employee development 

ELMOS Group (year-end)

1.154

786

2007

1.093

1.009

803

2008 2009

Employees by functions
ELMOS Group (annual average)

production 53%
sales 7%
administration 15%
r & D 21%
Quality 4%

759

ELMOS offers professional training for a variety of 

commercial and technical professions, with an emphasis on 

the training of microtechnologists. 
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the total headcount at the north rhine-Westphalian locations Dortmund and Duisburg 

dropped to 759 as of December 31, 2009 (December 31, 2008: 803), the number of employees 

throughout the elmos group went down to 1,009 as of the balance sheet date (December 31, 

2008: 1,093). this decline by altogether 7.7% took place to different extent at all elmos loca-

tions. the number of elmos group employees on annual average went down as well, to 1,038 

(2008: 1,117). the average age of the staff was 39 years in 2009 (2008: 37 years). 

in Dortmund management board and employees work together in a trusting partnership, sup-

ported by an employee representative committee. the employees’ interests among each other 

and towards the management are discussed and monitored in subcommittees. there are sub-

committees for social issues, human relations, employee promotion, and economic issues.

staFF participation

in 2009 another stock option plan was decided, following the stock option plans 1999 and 

2004. stock options continue to represent an important and customary component of a mod-

ern payment system and a suitable means for incentive and the long-term commitment of 

employees. the share price is a central criterion for our shareholders to determine the return 

on an investment in the company. the link to the share price will therefore continue to be the 

beneficiaries’ incentive within the framework of the new stock option plan. however, the pre-

vious performance hurdle and the absolute performance target of a minimum 5% have been 

raised to 50% so that options can only be exercised if the shareholder value has been increased 

considerably. in addition, the pecuniary advantage the beneficiaries can achieve by exercising 

the options is limited to a fourfold of the exercise price defined upon the issue of options.

based on the authorization for the implementation of a new stock option plan given by the 

annual general meeting 2009, supervisory board and management board decided in June 

2009 to issue altogether 495,000 options. the exercise price is 150% of the average closing 

prices of the share of elmos semiconductor ag at the Frankfurt stock exchange on the Xetra 

trade of the last ten trading days prior to the resolutions and comes to 3.68 euro. the blocking 

period is three years from the issue date. the company is authorized to offer compensation in 

cash to the beneficiaries instead of handing out shares.

as of December 31, 2009 altogether 627,106 options from the stock option plans of the years 

2005 and 2009 are outstanding (December 31, 2008: 409,916 options from stock option plans 

2004 and 2005). more information on the option plans’ various tranches can be found under 

note 23 in the notes to the iFrs consolidated financial statements.
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Quality

Within the framework of continuous improvement processes, elmos forcefully implements 

its first-time-right and zero-defect strategy. elmos thus achieves an outstanding quality lev-

el with its products as well as in its operational and manufacturing processes. Due to anticipa-

tory quality planning and monitoring of customer requirements even during the development 

stage, quality is achieved not by subsequent selection but rather from the beginning, with full 

competitiveness and a minimum of rejects.

regular examinations of the tools and processes put to use, close attention to the series prod-

ucts from acquisition and development up to manufacture and delivery, constant analyses, 

and cutting-edge statistical procedures make this high quality level possible. by means of a 

sophisticated traceability system, elmos is able to detect the reasons for slightest quality fluc-

tuations early on and to minimize their effects in an effective and sustained manner in order 

to provide even more efficient customer support. in-house laboratories examine not only pos-

sible defect mechanisms of the semiconductor manufacture but sensor and packaging specif-

ic features as well, thus closing the loop system for the continuous improvement of elmos’ 

manufacturing processes.

the elmos quality management system is audited annually in accordance with the require-

ments of Din iso 9001 and the standards Qs 9000 and vDa 6.1. these standards have been 

subsumed under iso/ts 16949:2002 with worldwide validity. the essential locations of the 

elmos group were audited and certified according to this standard in 2009.

Within the framework of continuous improvement 

processes, ELMOS forcefully implements its first-time-right 

and zero-defect strategy. 



 49

[2] ANNUAL REPORT ABSTRACT 2009

pROFIT, FINANcIAL AND EcO- 
NOMIc SITuATION

Financial statements according to IFRS 
the consolidated financial statements of elmos semiconductor ag for fiscal year 2009 have 

been prepared in accordance with the international Financial reporting standards (iFrs).

 

elmos group KeY Figures accorDing to iFrs

in million euro or %, unless otherwise indicated 2008 2009 Change

sales 175.1 123.8 –29.3%

gross profit 75.6 35.9 – 52.5%

in % 43.2% 29.0%

research and development expenses 31.6 25.3 –20.0%

in % 18.1% 20.4%

Distribution costs 12.1 10.6 –12.0%

in % 6.9% 8.6%

administrative expenses 16.5 14.7 –10.6%

in % 9.4% 11.9%

operating income before other operating expenses/(income) 15.4 –14.8 n/a

in % 8.8% –11.9%

ebit 16.5 –15.8 n/a

in % 9.4% –12.8%

income before taxes 14.7 –17.3 n/a

in % 8.4% –14.0%

net income/(net loss) after minority interest 10.6 –12.2 n/a

in % 6.1% – 9.9%

earnings per share (basic) in euro 0.55 – 0.63 n/a

Dividend per share in euro 0.00 0.00*

* Proposal to the AGM in May 2010
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Sales development 
the worldwide crisis of the automotive industry and the financial sector reached elmos at 

the end of 2008 and continued through 2009. sales were particularly affected by the crisis 

in the first half-year 2009. stock in the supply chain was reduced massively during this peri-

od. however, in the course of the first half-year repeat orders were made at an increasing rate 

as well, suggesting a gradual clearance of the customers’ warehouses or an effect of the car-

scrap bonus schemes introduced in various markets. the expected upturn of the market start-

ed at the beginning of the second half-year 2009 and kept up until the end of the year. 

the two-facedness of the year clearly shows in figures: While sales of the first half-year came 

to 47.8 million euro (hY 1/2008: 90.8 million euro), they amounted to 76.0 million euro in the 

second half-year (hY 2/2008: 84.3 million euro). the following aspects are especially worth 

mentioning with respect to the second half-year: the core business recorded an increase, the 

launch of new projects turned out positively, and elmos was able to supply the customers 

according to their requirements. this was not a matter of course, considering the volatile sales 

development − many semiconductor companies could not completely meet the fast-growing 

demand in the second half-year − and further strengthened customer confidence in elmos as 

a partner.

elmos generated total sales of 123.8 million euro (2008: 175.1 million euro). elmos thus per-

formed ahead of many direct competitors.

sales bY region

the worldwide crisis led to declining sales in all regions. the sales slump was particularly 

severe in the u.s.a., with a 38.9% decrease compared to 2008. this is accounted for primarily 

by the weak u.s. automotive market. in contrast to this we started recording growth stimu-

li from the asian regions in the 3rd quarter of 2009, based on the one hand on better market 

conditions in comparison with europe and the u.s. and on the successful start of new proj-

ects on the other hand. 

this trend is reflected by the regional breakdown of sales. While sales generated with cus-

tomers in germany (38.1% in 2009 versus 38.5% in 2008) and the other eu countries (36.8% 

in 2009 versus 37.6% in 2008) essentially remained unchanged, the sales share of the u.s. 

market went down (7.1% in 2009 versus 8.2% in 2008), and the share contributed by other 

countries went up (18.0% in 2009 versus 15.6% in 2008). among the latter, we achieved an 

increase in sales particularly in the asian countries.
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sales bY customers anD proDucts 

elmos supplies more than 100 customers. these are predominantly suppliers to the automo-

tive industry and to a lesser extent industrial customers and manufacturers of consumer prod-

ucts. Four of our customers contributed a volume of more than 10% of group sales each in 

2009. sales generated with our top customers are usually accounted for by a great many differ-

ent products at different stages of their respective life cycles. our top ten customers amount-

ed to roughly 68% of our 2009 sales (2008: 66%). the ten best selling products together came 

to roughly 43% of sales in 2009 (2008: 39%).

orDer bacKlog

at the end of December 2009, the book-to-bill ratio for the semiconductor segment was above 

one. to determine the book-to-bill, we compare the orders received for the next three months 

with sales of the past three months. order backlog is usually recorded upon receiving the cus-

tomer’s order. it is influenced by different factors such as demand, order behavior, production 

lead time, etc. order backlog may vary between the time of placing the order and delivery due 

to changes in customer demand or market conditions. as soon as production starts, an order 

usually cannot be canceled anymore. however, there is no guaranty that order backlog will 

automatically turn into future sales.

even though the reliability of orders had increased significantly by the end of the year 2009 

compared to the end of 2008 and the beginning of 2009, it has not reached the prior-crisis level 

yet. effects from the car-scrap bonus schemes introduced in several countries, discontinued by 

the end of 2009 in important markets, must be taken into consideration as well.

Revenue by products

others  57%
top 10 43%

Revenue by regions

germany 38%
u.s.a. 7%
other eu countries  37%
other countries 18%

Revenue by customers

top 10 68%
others  32%
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neW proJects (Design Wins) 

the competition for projects tightened in 2009. Due to the crisis, the number of contracts 

to be awarded was on the decline as well. the customers’ trend toward assps, develop-

ment expenses for which are usually not paid by customers in advance, has gained further 

momentum. however, we still managed to achieve a number of successes in 2009 with the 

acquisition of new projects. among them are new or repeat orders for airbag ics, network 

components, and the powertrains of motor vehicles. We also made good progress in the 

development of assps in 2009. some 25 new projects were started, and the internal struc-

tures were created for success in the market. the customers’ interest in standard products 

for use in the automobile as well as in industrial and consumer goods remains high and has 

even grown in the course of the year. 

Profit situation

the profit situation is essentially determined by the worldwide crisis and the corresponding 

sales decline. as the downswing had been anticipated early on, cost-saving measures were 

initiated in the fall of 2008 already in order to cushion the effects of the sales slump on prof-

itability. measures taken involved the cutback and postponement of capital expenditures, 

reductions concerning all cost items, short-time work at many locations, the termination of a 

majority of temporary employment contracts, the postponement of the conversion of produc-

tion from 6-inch to 8-inch wafers (Dortmund location), and considerable savings at the subsid-

iaries. owing to these extensive measures, roughly 15 million euro were saved in 2009.

gross proFit

compared to the prior-year period, the gross profit dropped 52.5% to 35.9 million euro in 

the reporting period, corresponding with a gross margin of 29.0% (2008: 75.6 million euro or 

43.2%). Despite a considerable reduction of the cost of sales, the gross profit’s decrease was 

larger than the sales loss in percent, due to the high share of fixed costs in semiconductor pro-

duction. in addition, the stock reduction placed a burden on the gross profit for long periods of 

the year, especially so in the second quarter of 2009. by the end of the year 2009, the relation 

of production output to sales had substantially normalized.

operating income beFore other operating eXpenses/(income) anD ebit (earnings 

beFore interest anD taXes)

research and development expenses dropped 20.0% to 25.3 million euro in the year under 

report (2008: 31.6 million euro). their share of sales made up 20.4%, slightly above the prior-

year level due to the large sales decline (2008: 18.1%). these high expenses – even in times 

of a weak economy – keep reflecting the great importance of research and development  
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activities for elmos as a technology company. in 2009 the r&D effort focused on the devel-

opment of standard products (assps) and the advancement of production technologies. 

marketing and distribution costs fell slightly to 10.6 million euro in the year under report 

(2008: 12.1 million euro). they came to 8.6% of sales (2008: 6.9%). these expenses also reflect 

the consistent development of activities for marketing assps in asia, europe and the u.s. as 

well as the acquisition of projects in the sector of industrial and consumer goods. 

general administrative expenses were reduced by 10.6% to 14.7 million euro (2008: 16.5 mil-

lion euro), amounting to 11.9% in relation to sales (2008: 9.4%). because of the fixed costs 

necessary for maintaining readiness for operation, total costs could not be reduced in pro-

portion to the sales drop. therefore the operating income before other operating expenses/

(income) went down to –14.8 million euro (2008: 15.4 million euro). 

the ebit (earnings before interest and taxes) fell to –15.8 million euro in line with the oper-

ating income, resulting in an ebit margin of –12.8% (2008: 16.5 million euro or 9.4%). 

income beFore taXes, group net income anD earnings per share

Finance income/expenses came to –1.5 million euro in 2009 after – 1.8 million euro in 2008. 

the income/loss before income taxes was – 17.3 million euro (2008: 14.7 million euro). the pre-

tax loss led to tax refund claims of 5.1 million euro (tax load 2008: 4.3 million euro). the group’s 

net loss after minority interest is 12.2 million euro (2008: net income of 10.6 million euro). the 

loss per share was 0.63 euro (2008: earnings per share of 0.55 euro). 

proposal For the appropriation oF retaineD earnings

the net income of elmos semiconductor ag* according to hgb came to 6.0 million euro in 

2009. retained earnings carried forward from the year 2008 amount to 36.7 million euro. man-

agement board and supervisory board propose to the annual general meeting to decide on 

may 4, 2010 per shareholders’ resolution that the retained earnings of 42.7 million euro be car-

ried forward to new accounts entirely. 

over the past years the company has defined as prerequisite to the payment of a dividend 

that the developments of earnings and cash flow must be positive and sustainable. in view of 

the worldwide crisis and the corresponding cutback in profitability, management board and 

supervisory board consider it the right course of action to leave the liquid funds within the 

company. 

*  The financial statements of ELMOS Semiconductor AG have received an unqualified auditor’s certificate. It is publicized in the electronic 
 Federal Gazette, deposited with the business register, can be requested from the company as a special print publication, and is available on 
 the company’s website. 
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sales anD proFits bY segments

Segment 2008 2009 Change

Sales in million Euro

semiconductor 163.6 113.0 – 31.0%

micromechanics 11.5 10.8 – 6.3%

Gross Profit in million Euro

semiconductor 73.4 33.7 – 54.1%

micromechanics 2.2 2.2 2.2%

Gross margin in %

semiconductor 44.9% 29.8%

micromechanics 18.7% 20.4%

Segment earnings in million Euro

semiconductor 19.2 –14.4 n/a

micromechanics –2.7 –1.4 n/a

Segment earnings margin in %

semiconductor 11.7% –12.7%

micromechanics –23.4% –13.2%

semiconDuctor

the elmos group’s semiconductor core business is operated through the various group com-

panies in germany, France, the netherlands, and the u.s. sales of the semiconductor segment 

dropped 31.0% to 113.0 million euro (2008: 163.6 million euro). as semiconductor sales are 

highly dependent on automotive customers, the sales decline was particularly severe in this 

segment. the gross profit went down 54.1% from 73.4 million euro to 33.7 million euro, result-

ing in a gross margin of 29.8% (2008: 44.9%). the segment recorded a loss of 14.4 million euro 

(2008: segment income of 19.2 million euro). 

micromechanics

the micromechanics segment comprises the activities of subsidiary company smi. in contrast 

to the semiconductor business, customers of the micromechanics segment belong for the 

most part to the industrial, consumer goods and medical sectors. these sectors were consid-

erably less affected by the crisis than the automotive industry. smi generates its third-party 

sales almost exclusively in u.s. dollars. in combination with a consistent development of struc-

tures and products in these fields, sales of the micromechanics segment merely lost 6.3% to 

10.8 million euro (2008: 11.5 million euro). Due to the change of internal structures, the qual-

ity of earnings was even improved; the gross margin climbed from 18.7% in 2008 to 20.4% in 

2009. the result for this segment was still negative (–1.4 million euro), yet it gained consider-

ably on the prior-year result (2008: –2.7 million euro).
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Financial position

elmos group KeY Figures accorDing to iFrs

in million euro unless otherwise indicated 2008 2009 Change

net income/net loss after minority interest 10.6 –12.2 n/a

Depreciation/appreciation 19.3 16.9 –12.5%

changes in net working capital* –1.2 10.1 n/a

other items – 6.1 – 5.3 –13.4%

Cash flow from operating activities 22.5 9.4 – 58.2%

capital expenditures for property, plant and equipment –20.8 –7.4 – 64.6%

in % of sales 11.9% 6.0%

other items 8.6 1.9 – 78.4%

Cash flow from investing activities –12.2 – 5.5 – 54.9%

Cash flow from financing activities –11.0 0.0 – 99.6%

changes in cash and cash equivalents – 0.6 3.9 n/a

Free cash flow** 10.3 3.9 – 62.0%

“Clean” free cash flow*** 1.7 2.1 20.2%

*        Net working capital in the narrow sense (trade receivables plus inventories less trade payables)
**      Cash flow from operating activities less cash flow from investing activities 
***    Cash flow from operating activities less capital expenditures 

 

cash FloW From operating activities 

the extent of the drop of the net result, 22.8 million euro lower than the previous year, was 

cushioned considerably in the operating cash flow. the cash flow from operating activities was 

9.4 million euro in 2009, thus only 13.1 million euro below the 2008 amount (22.5 million euro). 

that the decrease in the operating cash flow was not that large is essentially due to the rig-

id working capital management applied in 2009. receivables were reduced by 9.7 million euro 

and inventories were scaled down by 5.8 million euro compared to the previous year. on the 

other hand, the reduction of trade payables, still on the increase by prior-year comparison, bur-

dened the operating cash flow in 2009 to the amount of 5.5 million euro. 
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cash FloW From investing activities 

strict investment discipline had the consequence that capital expenditures only came to 7.4 

million euro or 6.0% of sales in 2009 (2008: 20.8 million euro or 11.9%). the cash requirement 

from investing activities amounted to 5.5 million euro in 2009 (2008: 12.2 million euro). it was 

covered by the operating cash flow despite the group’s high net loss caused by the crisis, so 

that a positive free cash flow in the amount of 3.9 million euro was achieved. thus the target 

of a positive free cash flow was clearly reached even in the year of crisis 2009. even not con-

sidering the cash inflow from the sale of assets and other factors with an impact on the cash 

flow from investing activities (so-called “clean” free cash flow), 2.1 million euro were generat-

ed (2008: 1.7 million euro).

cash FloW From Financing activities 

the cash flow from financing activities was essentially balanced in 2009. cash and cash equiv-

alents of 46.8 million euro as of December 31, 2009 were even up compared to the prior-year 

balance sheet date (December 31, 2008: 42.5 million euro). the share of cash and cash equiva-

lents in total assets climbed to 20.7% as of December 31, 2009 (December 31, 2008: 17.0%).  

other Financial obligations anD inFormation on oFF-balance-sheet Financial 

instruments 

in addition to classic credit facilities, the company finances its investments in real estate, tech-

nical equipment and machinery, factory and office equipment, and the use of development 

capacities and a production line through lease contracts and service agreements. the respec-

tive relation of advantages to risks is balanced, and the arrangements are customary in the 

market. the resulting repayment obligations are entered in “other financial obligations”. they 

came to 119.6 million euro as of December 31, 2009 (December 31, 2008: 139.2 million euro).

Thus the target of a positive free cash flow was clearly rea-

ched even in the year of crisis 2009. 
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Economic situation

elmos group KeY Figures accorDing to iFrs

in million euro unless otherwise indicated 12/31/2008 12/31/2009 Change

intangible assets 40.2 38.3 – 4.7%

property, plant and equipment 80.7 72.8 – 9.8%

other non-current assets 7.1 8.3 16.8%

inventories 37.4 31.5 –15.6%

trade receivables 29.7 20.0 – 32.7%

cash and cash equivalents 42.5 46.9 10.4%

other current assets 12.5 8.6 –31.2%

Total assets 250.1 226.4 – 9.5%

equity 171.2 159.1 –7.1%

non-current liabilities 47.5 43.0 – 9.4%

trade payables 18.4 12.9 –29.8%

other current liabilities 12.9 11.4 –12.2%

Total equity and liabilities 250.1 226.4 – 9.5%

total assets went down 9.5% to 226.4 million euro as of December 31, 2009 (December 31, 

2008: 250.1 million euro). 

With regard to assets, this development is accounted for essentially by the reduction of trade 

receivables (–9.7 million euro), inventories (–5.8 million euro), and property, plant and equip-

ment (–7.9 million euro). the latter item decreased because depreciation considerably exceed-

ed new investments in the year 2009. 

With regard to equity and liabilities, the deciding factors of the decrease were reduced trade 

payables (–5.5 million euro) and the lower equity (–12.2 million euro).

net WorKing capital

the net working capital fell from 48.7 million euro as of December 31, 2008 to 38.6 million euro 

as of the balance sheet date in the year under report. inventories dropped 15.6% to 31.5 million 

euro as of December 31, 2009; inventory turnover was slightly increased to 2.8x (2008: 2.7x). 

trade receivables were down 32.7% to 20.0 million euro; the receivables turnover came to 6.2x, 

also higher than the comparable prior-year value (2008: 5.9x). trade payables dropped about 

one third, namely 29.8%, to 12.9 million euro; the payables turnover was 6.8x (2008: 
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5.4x). these key figures signify that placing the focus on the working capital management in 

2009 – especially on the management of receivables and the reduced capital tie-up in the form 

of inventories through a reduced number of wafers-in – has paid off. 

elmos group KeY Figures

Calculation Unit 2008 2009

net working capital trade receivables + inventories −

 trade payables 

million 

euro 48.7 38.6

of sales % 27.8% 31.2%

inventory turnover cost of sales /inventories x 2.7x 2.8x

receivables turnover sales /trade receivables  x 5.9x 6.2x

payables turnover cost of sales /trade payables  x 5.4x 6.8x

cash cycle  inventory days + debtor days – creditor days days 132 136

net debt/(net cash) Financial liabilities (current and non-current) − cash and

cash equivalents − marketable securities 

million 

euro −1.8 −6.0

gearing net debt/equity % −1.1% −3.8%

equity ratio equity/total assets % 68.5% 70.3%

other KeY Figures oF the balance sheet structure

the net cash position, amounting to 1.8 million euro as of December 31, 2008, was even improved 

despite 2009 being the year of crisis. net cash came to 6.0 million euro as of December 31, 2009. 

the decrease in equity, lower than the reduction in total equity and liabilities, resulted in an 

increase of the equity ratio from 68.5% as of December 31, 2008 to 70.3% as of the balance sheet 

date of the year under report. 

overall statement on the economic situation 

the company’s solid financing has proved its worth very clearly − especially in economically chal-

lenging times. the majority of credit facilities is non-current, to be paid back in the years 2012 

and 2013. Despite the heavy sales drop in 2009, the company managed to even increase the net 

cash position as well as cash and cash equivalents in comparison to the end of the previous year. 

the company’s independence based on its financing and liquidity creates a solid foundation for 

further strengthening its competitiveness once the crisis is overcome. 
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OuTLOOK
economic FrameWorK

the economic framework is overall satisfying. prospects for growth are good to very good, 

though volatile. it must be taken into consideration that the starting position is humble due to 

the crisis. While a lower sales growth is predicted for the worldwide car market, the automo-

tive semiconductor market is supposed to grow considerably again. a similar picture is drawn 

for the production of the german electronics industry, where a slight growth is anticipated. 

the worldwide semiconductor market is expected to generate high growth rates in 2010. in 

detail the basic economic conditions appear as follows. 

For 2010 the vDa anticipates a significant decline of domestic car sales following the extraor-

dinary year for registrations 2009 with special effects such as the car-scrap bonus. the german 

car market is supposed to go down to between 2.75 and 3.0 million new registrations in 2010. 

however, the vDa considers this development merely a return to german normalcy or rather a 

level just slightly below the average figures for the german auto market of many years. World-

wide a slight recovery can be expected. the chinese market is supposed to grow considerably 

once again, by at least 10% compared to 2009. the vDa anticipates a 10% gain on the previous 

year’s sales for the u.s., too. the worldwide car production in 2010 is expected to amount to 

some 55 million vehicles in 2010 (2009: 53 million vehicles).

the market research institute semicast predicts for 2010 a 16% growth over 2009 in the niche 

market of automotive semiconductors. 

the total production of the german electronics industry will probably rise between 3% and 4% 

in 2010. according to the Zvei, the production volume dropped 22% in the year of crisis 2009. 

sales are expected to increase from 145 billion euro to 150 billion euro.

there is not a single market research institute that does not predict a double digit growth for 

the global semiconductor market in 2010. With a sales plus of 12.2%, market researcher World 

semiconductor trade statistics (Wsts) defines the minimum growth for 2010. the forecast of 

Future horizons represents the upper limit with a predicted growth of 22%. a 15% increase is 

expected on average (source: natixis securities).
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prospects For the elmos group

elmos has pushed and continued its strategy consistently even in times of worldwide crisis. 

particularly against the backdrop of the sales decline in 2009, maintaining a strong financial 

base and providing the required resources was the focus of the company’s management. even 

in the most challenging market situation of the past year, the opportunities for the compa-

ny’s future development in connection with the strategic growth areas were seized. therefore 

elmos is going to continue this strategy consistently in 2010 and the following years.

the strategic cornerstones are in detail: 

-> increased definition, development, and distribution of assps

-> increase of activities in the markets of industrial and consumer goods

-> expansion of the efforts in the asian markets

-> increased cooperation with our partners toward the optimization of the product 

 portfolio and the reduction of capital expenditures

-> increase of the sales share of microsystems 

Flexibility and competitiveness of production are increased as well. a case in point, the mod-

ernization of the manufacture at the headquarters in Dortmund has been pressed ahead with 

again since around the third quarter of 2009, as the reluctance to invest due to the crisis has 

eased.  

the main risk for the year 2010 is another decrease in worldwide car sales. this would probably 

lead to weaker demand for our semiconductor chips and accordingly a lower volume of orders. 

owing to the experience of the end of 2008 and through 2009, the management directs spe-

cial attention to first warning signals that might indicate the occurrence of such a scenario. if 

indication of that kind becomes obvious, further options will be available for additional cost 

savings, ready to be implemented on short notice according to requirements and market con-

ditions.   

Due to the good start into the year 2010, we expect an 

increase in sales of more than 15% for the whole year 2010. 
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the company is just as prepared for a fast upswing. on the basis of the experience of the past 

months, the management has implemented appropriate measures for this scenario as well, 

toward a successful realization and on-time delivery of our products to the customers.

based on the experience of the past months with high volatility, we are cautiously optimistic 

for 2010. at the end of the year 2009, the relation of orders received to sales (book-to-bill ratio) 

was above one. Due to the good start into the year 2010, we expect an increase in sales of 

more than 15% for the whole year 2010. because of the imponderables of the general econo-

my and the resulting lack of visibility for the second half-year 2010, we cannot be more precise 

at present. ebit and cash flow will be positive in 2010, and capital expenditures will remain 

considerably below 15% in relation to sales.

Dortmund, march 2010

The Management Board

Dr. Anton Mindl            Nicolaus Graf von Luckner            Reinhard Senf             Jürgen Höllisch
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consolidated balance sheet

assets Notes

12/31/2009

Euro

12/31/2008

Euro

Non-current assets

intangible assets 13 38,311,293  40,200,036

property, plant and equipment 14 72,779,258  80,698,137  

investments accounted for at equity 15 1 1

securities and investments 15 503,619  517,693 

Deferred tax assets 16 7,831,575  6,619,684  

Total non-current assets 119,425,746  128,035,551  

Current assets

inventories 17 31,538,737  37,379,627  

trade receivables 18 20,008,220  29,735,847  

cash and cash equivalents 19 46,841,487  42,463,401  

other assets 20 8,249,972 10,236,365

income tax assets 20 305,731 111,046

106,944,147  119,926,286  

non-current assets classified as held for sale 21 0 2,104,679  

Total current assets 106,944,147  122,030,965  

Total assets 226,369,893  250,066,516

cONSOLIDATED 
FINANcIAL STATEMENTS | ExTRAcT
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eQuitY anD liabilities Notes

12/31/2009

Euro

12/31/2008

Euro

Equity

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

share capital 22 19,414,205  19,414,205  

additional paid-in capital 22 89,001,006  88,736,563  

surplus reserve 102,224  102,224  

other comprehensive income 22 – 5,414,047  – 5,445,033  

retained earnings 56,193,375  68,410,785  

159,296,763  171,218,744  

minority interest –242,098  –13,825  

Total equity 159,054,665  171,204,919  

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

provisions 24 791,895  911,450  

Financial liabilities 25 40,237,034  40,433,714  

other liabilities 26 2,011,452  2,244,242  

Deferred tax liabilities 16 0 3,935,323  

Total non-current liabilities 43,040,381  47,524,729  

Current liabilities 

provisions 24 8,439,717  6,744,564  

income tax liabilities 26 199,741  3,862,368  

Financial liabilities 25 576,497  186,032  

trade payables 27 12,917,877  18,403,799  

other liabilities 26 2,141,015  2,140,105  

Total current liabilities 24,274,847  31,336,868  

Total liabilities 67,315,228  78,861,597  

Total equity and liabilities 226,369,893  250,066,516
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consolidated statement of comprehensive income

For the fiscal year ended December 31 Notes

2009

Euro

2008

Euro

sales 5 123,774,111  175,138,962  

cost of sales 6 87,892,076  99,555,659  

Gross profit 35,882,035  75,583,303  

research and development expenses 6 25,298,422  31,631,625  

Distribution expenses 6 10,632,428  12,081,991  

administrative expenses 6 14,738,969  16,484,504  

Operating income before other operating expenses/(income) – 14,787,784  15,385,183  

Finance income 8 – 967,663  – 1,583,504

Finance expenses 8 2,434,139  3,392,522  

Foreign exchange income 9 0 –242,648 

Foreign exchange losses 9 680,560  0

other operating income 10 – 2,701,652  – 5,050,994

other operating expenses 10 3,042,590  4,197,824

Income before taxes – 17,275,758  14,671,983

Income tax expenses

current taxes 11 250,153  3,359,523  

Deferred tax expenses/(tax income) 11 – 5,328,594  911,127  

– 5,078,441  4,270,650  

Net income/(Net loss) –12,197,317  10,401,333  

Other income

Foreign currency adjustments without deferred tax effect 1,040,633 882,382

Foreign currency adjustments with deferred tax effect – 1,326,846 116,751

Deferred taxes (on foreign currency adjustments with deferred 

tax effect) 22 317,199 – 36,870

Other income after taxes 30,986 962,263

Comprehensive income after taxes – 12,166,331  11,363,596

Net income/(Net loss) attributable to:

equity holders of the parent – 12,217,410 10,600,998

minority interest 20,093 – 199,665

– 12,197,317 10,401,333

Comprehensive income attributable to:

equity holders of the parent – 12,186,424 11,563,261

minority interest 20,093 – 199,665

– 12,166,331 11,363,596

Earnings per share

basic earnings per share 12 – 0.63 0.55

Fully diluted earnings per share 12 – 0.63 0.55
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consolidated cash flow statement

Notes

2009

Euro

2008

Euro

Cash flow from operating activities

net loss/net income after minority interest 7 –12,217,410  10,600,998 

Depreciation 16,872,675  19,281,299

Finance result 1,466,476  1,809,019

non-cash-effective income – 5,102,933  –1,748,841 

current tax expense 11 250,153  3,359,523  

stock option plan expense 23 65,077 0 

minority interest 20,093  –199,665 

changes in pension provisions 24 –119,555  –199,764

changes in net working capital

trade receivables 18 9,727,627  –1,501,075

inventories 17 5,840,889  – 3,765,700 

prepaid expenses and other assets                                                                      20 1,986,393  – 4,701,138

trade payables 27 – 5,485,921  4,056,685  

other provisions and other liabilities 24 1,696,632  –1,396,120

income tax payments – 4,107,466  –1,245,423

interest paid 8 –2,434,139  – 3,392,522

interest received 8 967,663  1,583,504

Cash flow from operating activities 9,426,254  22,540,780

Cash flow from investing activities

capital expenditures for intangible assets – 4,149,667  – 5,319,314

capital expenditures for property, plant and equipment – 3,216,117  –15,507,052  

Disposal/capital expenditures for non-current assets 

classified as held for sale 1,689,212  –1,540,760    

Disposal of fixed assets 213,753  10,168,947  

Disposal of investments 14,075  5,500  

acquisition of minority interest 33 – 49,000  0

Cash flow from investing activities – 5,497,744  –12,192,679

Cash flow from financing activities

repayment of non-current liabilities – 419,391  – 9,859,178 

taking out/repayment of current liabilities to banks 379,817  –1,114,833  

Cash flow from financing activities – 39,574  –10,974,011  

Increase/Decrease in cash and cash equivalents 3,888,936  – 625,910 

changes in cash and cash equivalents relating to exchange 

rates and basis of consolidation 489,150  233,694  

cash and cash equivalents at beginning of fiscal year 19 42,463,401  42,855,617  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of fiscal year 19 46,841,487  42,463,401
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consolidated statement of changes in equity 

Notes

Minority 

interest Group

Shares 

Number

 Share 

capital 

Euro

  Paid-in 

capital 

Euro

Surplus

 reserve

 Euro

Other 

comprehensive 

income 

(foreign currency 

adjustments) Euro

Retained

 earnings

 Euro 

Total 

Euro

Total 

Euro

Total 

Euro

January 1, 2008  19,414,205     19,414,205     88,736,563     102,224    – 6,407,297    57,809,788     159,655,483     309,704     159,965,187    

Foreign currency adjustments 22  962,263     962,263     962,263    

changes in the basis of consolidation –123,864    –123,864    

net income 2008  10,600,998     10,600,998    –199,665     10,401,333    

December 31, 2008  19,414,205     19,414,205     88,736,563     102,224    – 5,445,033  68,410,785     171,218,744    – 13,825     171,204,919    

stock option expense 23 65,077 65,077    65,077    

acquisition of minority interest mechaless 199,366 199,366    –248,366    – 49,000    

Foreign currency adjustments 22 30,986  30,986     30,986    

net loss 2009 –12,217,410    –12,217,410     20,093    –12,197,317    

December 31, 2009  19,414,205     19,414,205     89,001,006     102,224    – 5,414,047  56,193,375     159,296,763    – 242,098     159,054,665    

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
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consolidated statement of changes in equity 

Notes

Minority 

interest Group

Shares 

Number

 Share 

capital 

Euro

  Paid-in 

capital 

Euro

Surplus

 reserve

 Euro

Other 

comprehensive 

income 

(foreign currency 

adjustments) Euro

Retained

 earnings

 Euro 

Total 

Euro

Total 

Euro

Total 

Euro

January 1, 2008  19,414,205     19,414,205     88,736,563     102,224    – 6,407,297    57,809,788     159,655,483     309,704     159,965,187    

Foreign currency adjustments 22  962,263     962,263     962,263    

changes in the basis of consolidation –123,864    –123,864    

net income 2008  10,600,998     10,600,998    –199,665     10,401,333    

December 31, 2008  19,414,205     19,414,205     88,736,563     102,224    – 5,445,033  68,410,785     171,218,744    – 13,825     171,204,919    

stock option expense 23 65,077 65,077    65,077    

acquisition of minority interest mechaless 199,366 199,366    –248,366    – 49,000    

Foreign currency adjustments 22 30,986  30,986     30,986    

net loss 2009 –12,217,410    –12,217,410     20,093    –12,197,317    

December 31, 2009  19,414,205     19,414,205     89,001,006     102,224    – 5,414,047  56,193,375     159,296,763    – 242,098     159,054,665    

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
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